
Town of Pembroke

Conservation 
Commission

Written Guidance with respect to the commission’s function 
and purpose in order to reduce confusion and overlapping 
responsibility and jurisdiction. 

1



Mission Statement as Published on the Town Website, 

https://www.pembroke-ma.gov/conservation-commission

Seven volunteer Pembroke residents are required for a full 
conservation commission. Each member is appointed by the board of 
selectmen for a period of three years. The members are responsible for 
hearing and deciding matters under the jurisdiction of the Wetlands 
Protection Act. Permits are issued contingent on the type and extent 
of each project.

The commission is complemented by an agent and an administrative 
agent. The main responsibility of the agent and administrative agent is 
to obtain and disseminate information to the commission members to 
help them make informed decisions regarding permit applications and 
to ensure projects are in compliance with the Massachusetts Wetlands 
Protection Act regulations.

The conservation office, located on the first floor of the town hall, is 
open Monday through Thursday from 8:30AM to 4:30PM and on Friday 
from 8:30AM to 1:00PM, but meetings and inspections may be 
scheduled outside of those hours to meet the needs of the commission 
as well as the applicants who propose projects

Primary Responsibilities as outlined in the 2018 Annual 
Town Report, 

https://www.pembroke-
ma.gov/sites/pembrokema/files/uploads/2018_annual_r
eport_final.pdf

The goal of the commission continues to be the preservation of our 
wetlands, open space and wildlife as well as the protection of our 
community’s natural resources. 

History/Establishment 

Established at Town Meeting Vote March 1961 Article 32 
(MGL c6 s73)

2

https://www.pembroke-ma.gov/conservation-commission
https://www.pembroke-ma.gov/sites/pembrokema/files/uploads/2018_annual_report_final.pdf


Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act per the MACC 
website, 
https://www.maccweb.org/page/ResWPAFAQS

The Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act (General Laws Chapter 131, 
§40; the Act) protects important water-related lands such as wetlands 
(“swamps”), floodplains, riverfront areas, and other areas from destruction 
or alteration. Most work proposed to be done in those areas requires a 
permit (known as an Order of Conditions) from the local conservation 
commission.

Regulations for the Act (310 CMR 10.00), and related guidance and policy 
documents, are issued by the Massachusetts Department of 
Environmental Protection (MA DEP).

Many cities and towns have adopted local zoning or non-zoning wetland 
ordinances or bylaws that are stricter than the Act. Applications for work 
in wetland resource areas covered by state and local wetland laws are 
usually processed together by the conservation commission.

Responsibilities As Outlined by the State of 
Massachusetts

The primary responsibility the Conservation Commission has is to 
administer and enforce the local and state Wetland and Stormwater
Regulations and Bylaws, along with implementing management 
plans that go along with the regulations and bylaws. 

The Conservation Commission is also responsible for, but not 
limited to, the following:

• Enforcing all applicable regulations and bylaws
• Holding public hearings regarding the submitted applications
• Maintaining Wetlands, Floodplains, and Resource Areas
• Promoting environmental education
• Reviewing Notices of Intent (NOI) applications
• Reviewing requests for the Determination of Applicability 

applications for altering wetlands

See here for more information, 
https://www.maccweb.org/page/AboutConCommMA

3

https://www.maccweb.org/page/ResWPAFAQS
https://www.maccweb.org/page/AboutConCommMA


A city or town which accepts this section may establish a conservation 

commission, hereinafter called the commission, for the promotion and 

development of the natural resources and for the protection of 

watershed resources of said city or town. Such commission shall 

conduct researches into its local land areas and shall seek to co-ordinate 

the activities of unofficial bodies organized for similar purposes, and 

may advertise, prepare, print and distribute books, maps, charts, plans 

and pamphlets which in its judgment it deems necessary for its work. 

Among such plans may be a conservation and passive outdoor 

recreation plan which shall be, as far as possible, consistent with the 

town master plan and with any regional plans relating to the area. The 

commission may, from time to time, amend such plan. Such plan shall 

show open areas including marsh land, swamps and other wetlands, and 

shall show which areas are subject to restrictions or wetland zoning 

provisions and any other matters which may be shown on a plat index 

under section thirty-three of chapter one hundred and eighty-four. 

Acquisitions of interests in land under this section and other municipal 

open lands shall be shown thereon as well as lands owned by other 

entities kept open through any legal requirement. Such plan shall show 

other areas which public necessity requires to be retained for 

conservation and passive recreation use. It shall keep accurate records 

of its meetings and actions and shall file an annual report which shall be 

printed in the case of towns in the annual town report. The commission 

may appoint a director, clerks, consultants and other employees, and 

may contract for materials and services within available funds insofar as 

the same are not supplied by other departments. The commission shall 

consist of not less than three nor more than seven members…

Section 8C: Conservation commission; establishment; 
powers and duties

4



…In cities the members shall be appointed by the mayor, subject to the 

provisions of the city charter, except that in cities having or operating 

under a Plan D or Plan E form of city charter, said appointments shall be 

by the city manager, subject to the provisions of the charter; and in 

towns they shall be appointed by the selectmen, excepting towns 

having a manager form of government, in which towns appointments 

shall be made by the town manager, subject to the approval of the 

selectmen. When a commission is first established, the terms of the 

members shall be for one, two or three years, and so arranged that the 

terms of approximately one third of the members will expire each year, 

and their successors shall be appointed for terms of three years each. 

Any member of a commission so appointed may, after a public hearing, 

if requested, be removed for cause by the appointing authority. A 

vacancy occurring otherwise than by expiration of a term shall in a city 

or town be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner as an 

original appointment. Said commission may receive gifts, bequests or 

devises of personal property or interests in real property of the kinds 

mentioned below in the name of the city or town, subject to the 

approval of the city council in a city or of the selectmen in a town. It 

may purchase interests in such land with sums available to it. If 

insufficient funds are available or other reasons so require, a city council 

or a town meeting may raise or transfer funds so that the commission 

may acquire in the name of the city or town by option, purchase, lease 

or otherwise the fee in such land or water rights, conservation 

restrictions, easements or other contractual rights including 

conveyances on conditions or with limitations or reversions, as may be 

necessary to acquire, maintain, improve, protect, limit the future use of 

or otherwise conserve and properly utilize open spaces in land and 

water area…

5



…For the purposes of this section a city or town may, upon the 

written request of the commission, take by eminent domain 

under chapter seventy-nine, the fee or any lesser interest in any 

land or waters located in such city or town, provided such taking 

has first been approved by a two-thirds vote of the city council or 

a two-thirds vote of an annual or special town meeting, which 

land and waters shall thereupon be under the jurisdiction and 

control of the commission. Upon a like vote, a city or town may 

expend monies in the fund, if any, established under the 

provisions of this section for the purpose of paying, in whole or in 

part, any damages for which such city or town may be liable by 

reason of any such taking. The commission may adopt rules and 

regulations governing the use of land and waters under its 

control, and prescribe penalties, not exceeding a fine of one 

hundred dollars, for any violation thereof. No action taken under 

this section shall affect the powers and duties of the state 

reclamation board or any mosquito control or other project 

operating under or authorized by chapter two hundred and fifty-

two, or restrict any established public access. Lands used for 

farming or agriculture, as defined in section one A of chapter one 

hundred and twenty-eight, shall not be taken by eminent domain 

under the authority of this section.

6



A city or town may appropriate money in any year to a conservation fund 

of which the treasurer shall be the custodian. Prior to the adoption of any 

rule or regulation which seeks to further regulate matters established by 

section forty of chapter one hundred and thirty-one or regulations 

authorized thereunder relative to agricultural or aquacultural practice, 

the commission shall, no later than seven days prior to the commission's 

public hearing on the adoption of said rules and regulations, give notice 

of the said proposed rules and regulations to the farmland advisory board 

established pursuant to section forty of chapter one hundred and thirty-

one. He may deposit or invest the proceeds of said fund in savings banks, 

trust companies incorporated under the laws of the commonwealth, 

banking companies incorporated under the laws of the commonwealth 

which are members of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or 

national banks, or invest it in paid up shares and accounts of and in co-

operative banks or in shares of savings and loan associations or in shares 

of federal savings and loan associations doing business in the 

commonwealth, and any income therefrom shall be credited to the fund. 

Money in said fund may be expended by said commission for any purpose 

authorized by this section; provided, however, that no expenditure for a 

taking by eminent domain shall be made unless such expenditure has 

been approved in accordance with this section.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleVII/Chapter40/Se

ction8C

7

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleVII/Chapter40/Section8C


 
 

TOWN OF PEMBROKE 
 

APPOINTED COMMITTEES 
 

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
HANDBOOK 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Adopted June 15, 2015 

  



 

Introduction 

 

Congratulations on your appointment to a town board, committee or 
commission! You are about to take on a very important role within the 
Town of Pembroke.  Boards, committees and commissions serve as 
planning and implementation bodies of the town and in some cases, as 
enforcement agencies for state statutes and local by-laws. The volunteer 
members who serve on these boards and committees are in an essential 
part of running and effective and efficient local government. This 
handbook has been prepared by the Board of Selectmen as a general 
information aid to all town boards and committees.  

 

The Board of Selectmen actively encourages Pembroke residents to 
participate in local government by volunteering to serve on a board or 
committee. We recognize that serving on a board or committee takes 
dedication and commitment and we value your volunteer service. 

 

This handbook has been prepared by the Board of Selectmen as a 
general Policy and Procedure for Boards and Committees appointed by 
the Board of Selectman to aid them in decision making when serving 
under the direction of the Board of Selectman. 

 

DISCLAIMER:  This handbook is intended to be a general guidance 
document for those serving on Town boards and committees.  Many of 
the topics discussed herein are also addressed by state law and/or the 
Town’s By-laws or Town policies, and this handbook is not to be 
construed as a substitute for those primary resources.  Any questions 
regarding this handbook or other applicable statutes, by-laws or policies 
should be addressed to the Town Administrator.  
  



APPOINTED COMMITTEE HANDBOOK 
 
 
I. Committee Function and Formation 
 
The Role of Appointed Committees 
 
Appointed committees serve many vital functions in Town government. The roles of appointed 
committees include, but are not limited to law enforcement, advisory, regulatory, investigative 
and planning functions. The Board of Selectmen will provide each committee with written 
guidance with respect to the committee’s function and purpose in order to reduce confusion and 
overlapping responsibility and jurisdiction. The Board of Selectmen expects that committees will 
cooperate and coordinate activities so that all decisions reflect that which is in the best interest of 
the town. 
 
The following are general responsibilities of appointed committees: 

• Protect and act in the best interest of the Town within the function and purpose; 
• Understand the laws and regulations related to the committee’s function and purpose; 
• Exercise power and authority cautiously, fairly and responsibly; 
• Adhere to the laws that guide procedures and decision making; 
• Actively seek effective solutions to the problems and dilemmas that confront the Town; 

and 
• Represent the Town residents, not just a segment. 

 
Commensurate with the general responsibilities are the following general rights of appointed 
committees: 
 

• To be treated with respect; 
• To be candid and forthcoming without fear of personal consequences; 
• To be fully informed about, and participate in, actions that impact the committee. 

 
Committee Appointment 
 
The appointing authority for most committees is the Board of Selectmen. Massachusetts General 
Law requires that the Town establish some committees, while others are established based on the 
unique needs of the community. The goal of the Board of Selectmen is to appoint candidates 
who are broadly representative of the community and whose qualifications and interests match 
the needs of the community. However, an applicant does not need to be an expert in any 
particular area to be appointed.  
 
Committee vacancies may be advertised in local weekly newspapers or listed on the Town 
website. The Town website provides an application form for potential applicants to be submitted 
to the Board of Selectmen. Applicants should attend at least one meeting of the board or 
committee to which they seek appointment, and may be asked to have an interview with the 
Board of Selectmen at their regular meeting. Although committees may recommend and recruit 
potential members, Massachusetts Law or the Town By-laws govern the process for making 
appointments or filling vacancies on boards and committees and does not allow the affected 
board or committee to exclusively appoint new members.  
 



Duration of Term and Reappointment 
 
Committee terms may range from temporary to a three year term. If an appointment is the result 
of a committee member resigning prior to completing a term, then the replacement appointee 
serves the duration of the original term. In any case, reappointment is not automatic and 
members are under no obligation to accept reappointment. The Board of Selectmen will evaluate 
the member’s contribution, attendance at meetings, and the changing needs of the committee and 
community. If reappointment is accepted, the member must be sworn in by the Town Clerk.  
 
Certification 
 
Committee appointees must be sworn in by the Town Clerk and will receive a Certificate of 
Appointment. Committee members may not act in any official capacity until the member is 
sworn in by the Town Clerk. Additionally, the Open Meeting Law requires that within two 
weeks of qualification for office, all persons serving on a public body shall certify that s/he has 
reviewed the educational materials provided by the Attorney General’s Office. Each committee 
member shall provide certification of completion of this requirement to the Town Clerk. 
 
Attendance Guidelines 
 
Volunteers or paid employees who accept appointments to committees and commissions accept a 
responsibility to regularly attend scheduled meetings. Without regular attendance, the business of 
that group and, hence, the Town, cannot be conducted. While some absences will invariably 
occur, habitual, repeated or consistent absence cannot be accepted. To better serve the interests 
of the Town, the following guidelines will be used for all committees and commissions 
appointed by the Board of Selectmen: 

• Missing three consecutive monthly meetings, four consecutive semi-monthly meetings or 
a majority of meetings in an appointed year may be construed that the member does not 
want to continue serving and they may be asked to resign or not be reappointed.  

• To prevent the perception that a Chairman is giving preference to some individuals, the 
Chairman will simply report the situation to the Board of Selectmen on a quarterly basis 
and leave it to take whatever action is necessary. 

 
Resignation 
 
The Board of Selectmen expects that all committee members will fulfill the duration of their 
term. However, the Board does recognize that, in some cases, a member is not able to complete a 
term. It is hoped that the committee member will work with the committee Chairman to 
determine a timely manner and process in which the member can resign from the committee. A 
written resignation must be submitted by the committee member to the appointing authority, the 
Board of Selectmen, as well as to the Town Clerk. 
 
Committee Officers 
 
Massachusetts General Law requires that some committees elect certain officers. However, all 
committees must elect a new Chairman every year and designate a clerk (unless the committee 
has an assigned person) to ensure that the minutes of each meeting are recorded, transcribed and 
filed for posting on the town website within two weeks of the meeting (may be posted in draft 
form until approved by the board). A Vice-Chairman may be elected at the committee’s 
discretion. Committees must notify the Selectmen’s office whenever the committee elects new 
officers. 



 
Chairman. The Chairman presides at all meetings, decides questions of order, calls special 
meetings and signs official documents that require the Chairman’s signature.  The Chairman has 
the same rights and responsibilities as other members to offer resolutions, make or second 
motions and vote. 
 
Vice Chairman. Performs the Chairman’s duties in his/her absence. 
 
Clerk. Unless the committee has an assigned staff person, the clerk or secretary should record 
and prepare minutes, prepare and distribute agenda and other meeting materials, schedule a 
meeting room and post meetings with the Town Clerk. These responsibilities may be shared with 
other members. 
 
Staff Support. Some committees do have hired staff to serve their committee. The staff person is 
hired to provide assistance, rather than perform the duties that are expected of committee 
members. The staff member may record minutes of meetings, prepare and circulate information 
for meetings, serve as a liaison and perform clerical duties. Please be aware that most committee 
staff have limited hours and committees should not ask for more that can reasonably be 
accomplished in those hours.  
 
II.  Conduct and Policies 
 
Conflict-of-Interest Law 
 
The Conflict-of-Interest law (MGL Chapter 268A) strictly regulates the activities and conduct of 
public officials, including appointed committee members, during and after their service. The 
purpose of the law is to ensure that public officials’ financial interests and personal relationships 
do not conflict with their public obligations. The law is broad and expansive to prevent an 
official from becoming involved in a situation that becomes an actual conflict or creates the 
appearance of conflict. Committee members must not accept gifts, privileges or employment 
provided as a result of acting in a capacity as a public official.  
 
This handbook is not intended to provide advice on every situation that may constitute a conflict 
under General Laws Chapter 268A, and committee members are encouraged to contact Town 
Counsel or the State Ethics Commission with any specific questions.   
 
At a minimum, the law prohibits a committee member from engaging in deliberations, votes or 
any other form of committee participation in which the committee member, or any of the 
following associates of the committee member, may have a financial interest: 

• Immediate family; 
• Partner of business associate; 
• Business organization where the member serves as an officer, employee or other position;  
• Any person or organization with whom the member is negotiating with or has any 

arrangement concerning prospective employment.  
Any committee member who has a conflict must abstain from committee involvement regarding 
the matter, and any committee member concerned about the appearance of a Conflict of Interest 
may recuse himself/herself from participating in the matter. In some cases, the member may not 
be required to abstain if full disclosure is made prior to the committee’s action. Violations of this 
law may result in large fines, legal action and/or imprisonment. Prior to accepting an 
appointment, candidates should consider any potential conflicts. Be aware that the law also limits 
activities of members after they have left the committee. Any questions or perceived conflicts of 



interest should be directed immediately to the Town Administrator for referral to Town Counsel, 
or to the State Ethics Commission.  
 
Every Appointed Official is required to complete an on-line ethics training program through the 
State Ethics Commission within 30 days of the date of appointment and every two years 
thereafter. In addition, appointed officials must be provided with a summary of the Conflict of 
Interest law each year and acknowledge receipt of same. 
 
Budget and Fundraising 
 
In general, committees have limited budgets. Funds are only allocated for expenses directly 
related to the committee’s sphere of responsibility including mailings, postage, and travel 
expenses for seminars and meetings. Contact the Town Administrator or Town Accountant with 
any questions concerning the budget. 
 
All payments and purchases must be coordinated with the Town Accountant’s office. Items 
purchased without first contacting the Town Accountant may not be reimbursable.  
 
Massachusetts General Law requires that any funds or donations received by the committee must 
be placed in the Town’s general fund unless a special fund has been dedicated to receive funds or 
donations. 
 
Sexual Harassment Policy 
 
Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 151B prohibits certain conduct that may constitute sexual 
harassment or retaliation for one’s role in a sexual harassment complaint or investigation. The 
Town of Pembroke’s sexual harassment policy pertains to all Town officials and employees, as 
well as appointed committee members. Sexual harassment in the workplace is unlawful. It is 
unlawful to retaliate against anyone for filing a complaint about sexual harassment or for 
cooperating with an investigation into sexual harassment. It is the policy of the Town of 
Pembroke that no employee be harassed by another employee or supervisor on the basis of sex 
and that no personnel action be taken affecting any employee (either favorably or unfavorably) 
on the basis of conduct that is not related to work performance. Such conduct may include, but is 
not limited to, submitting to sexual advances, refusing to submit to sexual advances, protesting 
sexual overtures or raising a complaint concerning the alleged violation of this policy.  
 
The policy was formulated to protect Town employees and officials, both males and females, 
against unsolicited and unwelcome sexual overtures or conduct, either physical or verbal. It 
prohibits misconduct that may upset morale and interfere with work and efficiency. Some forms 
of misconduct may even constitute a violation of the equal employment opportunity law.  A copy 
of the sexual harassment policy of the Town of Pembroke is available in the Town 
Administrator’s office.  Appointed officials are subject to the Town’s sexual harassment policy.  
On an annual basis, appointed officials will be provided a copy of the sexual harassment policy 
and are required to sign that they have received and read the policy.  
 
Misuse of Position 
 
Misuse of position is expressly prohibited in the Massachusetts General laws. No unwarranted 
privileges should be sought or accepted if the reason for the privilege results from serving in an 
official capacity. This includes gifts, favors, employment, and preferable treatment. 
 



Use of Town Equipment and Facilities 
 
Each committee is responsible for its own clerical work. Town equipment and facilities should 
not be used for personal purposes that are unrelated to the committee’s work.  
 
Annual Town Report 
 
Each year, the Selectmen’s office prepares the Annual Town Report. Committees are required to 
submit a short but detailed report on the committee’s membership, activities, accomplishments, 
and future plans. The Annual Town Report is the official historical record of Town government 
activities for the year. Committee reports must be submitted to the Selectmen’s office by the end 
of the month of January each year. Contact the Selectmen’s office for more information. 
 
III.  Meetings and Procedures 
 
Meeting Definition 
 
Meetings of public bodies are subject to the Open Meeting Law, Massachusetts General Laws 
Chapter 30A. The information contained herein is provided as a general overview of the Open 
Meeting Law but is not intended to be all-inclusive.  Board and committee members are 
encouraged to refer to M.G.L. Chapter 30A, Sections 19-25, the Town Administrator or Town 
Counsel with specific questions. 
 
 A meeting occurs at any time that a quorum (majority) of the committee members meet to 
deliberate any public business or policy over which the committee has jurisdiction or advisory 
power. Deliberation is oral or written communication (including email, text, telephone or other 
communications which more than two members deliberate on a subject before them) that 
expresses a member’s opinion. In addition, serial communications between two board members, 
which are then conveyed to another board member or members are also considered deliberations 
which may only occur within the context of a public meeting.  One exception to this rule occurs 
when board members are communicating for the sole purpose of determining when to schedule a 
meeting, but members are advised that their communication should be limited to discussing 
schedules. 
 
Several specific exemptions are provided: 

• Site Visits and On-Site Inspections – when board members meet at or near the locus of a 
project that is the subject of permit approval or permit review, so called site visits do not 
constitute a meeting so long as the members do not deliberate. Site visits are data 
gathering events.  

• Attendance by Board Members of one Board at another Board’s meeting – attendance by 
a quorum of a public body at a meeting of another public body that has complied with the 
notice requirements of the open meeting law, so long as the visiting members 
communicate only by open participation in the meeting on those matters under discussion 
by the host body and do not deliberate is not a meeting. With sufficient notice, it would 
be prudent for the visiting committee to also post a meeting notice and produce meeting 
minute meetings.  

• Attendance at Town Meeting – attendance by a quorum of a public body at Town 
Meeting does not constitute a “meeting”. 

 



Members of the Board of Appeals and Planning Board could potentially act in a quasi-judicial 
manner in certain circumstances. Members of these Boards should request additional information 
from the Town Administrator.  
 
Attendance and Quorums 
 
It is expected that the committee members will regularly attend meetings. Members are chosen 
based on their unique qualities and needs of the committee. The effectiveness of each committee 
depends upon the knowledge and dedication of its members. All meetings must have a quorum – 
typically, a majority of members, unless the number of members required to be present is set by 
a special or general law or by-law – present in order to conduct official business. Some 
committees require a super-majority to act on certain applications or petitions. Unless a different 
quantum of vote is established by special or general law or by-law, when a quorum is present, a 
majority vote of the votes cast is sufficient for the adoption of any motion that is in order.  
 
Public Hearings 
 
Many communities are required by Massachusetts General Law to conduct public hearings. 
Other committees may also choose to have a public hearing in order to receive input from the 
community. All public hearings must be conducted in accordance with the Open Meeting Law 
and Town by-laws. It is recommended that a formal procedure be developed to conduct the 
hearing, which may include the following: 
 

• Chairman states guidelines and procedures, including time limits and decorum; 
• Where necessary, Chairman states background information; 
• Petitioner makes presentation; 
• Information presented from Town officials and other committees; 
• Committee members question petitioner;  
• Public directs questions and comments through the Chairman, allow only questions and 

comments that are relevant to the discussion; 
• Committee closes public portion of hearing;  
• Committee begins deliberation;  
• Motions may be made and votes taken at the committee’s discretion; 
• Hearing is closed or continued to a specific date. 

 
Open Meeting Law 
 
The Open Meeting Law (MGL Ch.30A) requires that meetings of public bodies be conducted in 
open session. When any elected or appointed Board, committee or subcommittee meets, the 
public and press are allowed to attend. However, the Open Meeting Law does not require that the 
public be allowed to participate. A copy of the Open Meeting Law will be given to all committee 
members when they are sworn in by the Town Clerk. 
 
Posting of Notice of Meeting. It is the responsibility of each committee to ensure that all 
meetings are posted. A meeting notice must be posted at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 
Note: Saturdays and Sundays and legal holidays do not count as part of the 48 hours. The date, 
time, and location of the meeting must be provided. If a meeting date, time, or location changes, 
or the meeting is cancelled, a reposting may be required. The meeting notice shall be filed with 
the Town Clerk and posted in a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours: agendas 
must be posted to the Town website at www.pembroke-ma.gov by forwarding them 

http://www.pembroke-ma.gov/


electronically to the Library Director. The meeting notices must include an agenda of the 
meeting that lists topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed during the 
meeting. 
 
Control of Meeting. It is the responsibility of the Chairman to maintain order and decorum at the 
hearing, no person shall address a meeting of a public body without the permission of the chair. 
The Chairman must be consistent and fair, but may put restrictions on the nature, number, and 
frequency of individual’s comments and questions. It is within the Chairman’s power to order 
the removal of an individual from the hearing if the individual does not adhere to the guidelines 
and procedures established by the committee; however, a Chairman should carefully consider 
this action before exercising it. 
 
Audio and Video Recording. Any person may record a meeting (with the exception of executive 
sessions) with an audio recorder or video recording equipment, provided that there is not active 
interference with the meeting. Upon opening the meeting the Chairman shall inform other 
attendees of any such recording. Note that the board may not refuse to allow a recording, unless 
it interferes with the conduct of the meeting. 
 
No Votes By Secret Ballot. The law prohibits the taking of any votes, whether in open or 
executive session, by secret ballot. 
 
Executive Session. An executive session is a board or committee meeting held in private to 
discuss, deliberate and vote on certain matters allowed under M.G.L. Chapter 30A, §21 . Most 
committees will not need to conduct an executive session. If the purpose of the executive session 
is one permitted by  M.G.L. Chapter 30A, §21  and, if required, the board determines that an 
open meeting may have a detrimental effect on any of the following, the board may enter into 
executive session to discuss any of the following, provided proper procedure is followed: 

• Collective bargaining    
• Litigation 
• The purchase, exchange, lease or value of real estate 
• The interviewing of applicants for employment or appointment by a preliminary 

screening committee 
 

The following topics are categorically appropriate for executive session: 
• Strategy for nonunion personnel negotiations 
• Collective bargaining or contract negotiations with nonunion personnel 
• Strategy for or deployment of security personnel or devices 
• Investigate charges of criminal activity or to consider filing criminal complaints 
• Comply with or act under the authority of any general or special law or federal 

requirements 
• Meet with or confer with a mediator subject to specific limitations 
• Discuss trade secrets relating to “selling or distributing electrical power and energy”. 

 
The above is not intended as a substitute for the provisions for convening an executive session 
under the Open Meeting Law, and boards are encouraged to refer to M.G.L. Chapter 30A, §21 to 
ensure that the subject matter to be discussed satisfies the criteria for an executive session. 
 
No board, committee or commission shall discuss the reputation, character, physical or mental 
condition rather than the professional competence, of an individual or discuss the discipline or 



dismissal of, or complaints or charges against a public officer, employee, staff member or 
individual in open session. 
 
Executive sessions should not be convened without first consulting the Town 
Administrator, and also Town Counsel, prior to the meeting. There are posting, voting and 
recording requirements to which each board must comply and violations could result in legal 
action and large fines. In addition, there are certain types of executive sessions that require 
advance, written notice to and confer rights upon an individual who may be discussed in the 
executive session.  
 
Meeting Minutes. The law requires that a formal and permanent written record be kept of all 
meeting, both open and executive session. The minutes must be typed and include (as a 
minimum): 

• Date, time and location of meeting; 
• Names of those members present and absent; 
• A record of all votes, decision, and actions taken; 
• Brief summary of the discussion; 
• A list of the documentation and other exhibits used at the meeting, with limited 

exceptions noted in M.G.L. Chapter 30A, §22(e).   
 

Minutes should be reviewed and approved by the committee at a subsequent meeting. Copies of 
approved minutes should be forwarded to the Town Clerk as soon as they are available and a file 
including minutes and copies of the agenda should be maintained. Unless related to an executive 
session, minutes from a public meeting are a public record and must be disclosed, whether in 
draft or final form, if a proper request for a copy has been made within ten (10) days. The law 
requires withholding disclosure of executive session minutes and records for a period no longer 
than necessary to support the lawful purpose of the executive session. More specifically, the law 
requires that when the purpose for which a valid executive session was held has been served, the 
materials discussed and recorded during the executive session must be disclosed. 
 
Open Meeting Law enforcement – the Massachusetts Attorney General enforces the Open 
Meeting Law. The law provides very broad investigative authority to the Attorney General’s 
office to investigate claimed Open Meeting Law violations and suggests almost unlimited 
authority to enforce the law. Accordingly, it would be prudent to seek counsel’s opinion where 
questions arise regarding compliance with Open Meeting Law. 
 
Meeting Schedule  
 
Meetings may be held weekly, bi-monthly, monthly or less frequently, depending upon the 
nature of the committee’s work; committees may meet more often in one time of the year than 
others. Meetings are generally held in the evenings, but may be held at other times. The Board of 
Selectmen urges committees to schedule meetings at times that are convenient for the public to 
attend – weekends and holidays should be avoided.  In addition, certain boards are prohibited by 
law (M.G.L. Chapter 40A, §11) from meeting on the day of an election. Massachusetts General 
Law requires that meetings are open to the public and that the meeting be accessible to the 
public. Committees must make reasonable accommodations for people with disabilities, 
including holding the meetings in an accessible location. 
 
 
 



Meeting Rooms 
 
Please note that the posting of a meeting does not constitute reserving a meeting room, 
conversely, reserving a meeting room does not constitute the posting of a meeting. Each 
committee using a meeting room is responsible for ensuring that the lights are turned off, that the 
room is free of trash and that the building is locked up when the meeting is concluded (if no 
other committees are in the building). Doors should not be locked while a meeting is in progress. 
 
Town Hall  The Town Hall has two handicapped-accessible public meeting rooms; the main 
meeting hall used for Selectmen’s meetings and the upstairs conference room. Rooms must be 
reserved by contacting the Town Administrator’s office at (781) 293-3844. 
 
Library The Pembroke Public Library has two handicapped-accessible public meeting 
rooms; the large meeting room and exhibition hall and the modern conference room. Rooms 
must be reserved by contacting the Library Director’s office at (781) 293-6771. 
 
Council on Aging The Council on Aging has a large handicapped-accessible public meeting 
room. This room must be reserved by contacting the COA Director’s office at (781) 294-8220. 
 
Police Station  This meeting room is for the use of emergency management, PEMA and 
crisis team personnel only. 
 
Water Department This meeting room is for the use of the DPW Commissioners, project 
coordinators and engineers only. 



Town of Pembroke                                                                                                         GL #17-09 
Town Administrator’s Guidelines                                          Subject:  Social Media Guideline      
  
 

 ____________      
   
      Page 1 of 4 
   

Purpose: The methods by which people can communicate continue to evolve through 
various social media applications, smart phones, web based options, and other 
electronic technology.  The Town of Pembroke recognizes the many opportunities 
for communication through these tools to the public.  The Town encourages the 
responsible use by its employees, agents, elected and appointed officials, 
consultants, volunteers and any person conducting business with or on behalf of 
the Town of Pembroke social media channels of communication and of private 
social media channels of communication.  Therefore this Guideline is applicable 
to all people listed in the preceding sentence. The use of these tools create new 
responsibilities for Town employees, Boards, and Commissions.  The purpose of 
this Guideline is to provide guidance to clarify the boundaries between 
appropriate and inappropriate use of official Town of Pembroke and private social 
media accounts and services.  Nothing in this Guideline is intended to restrict an 
individual’s right to discuss, as a private citizen, matters of public concern on 
private social media sites. Nothing in this Guideline is intended to restrict an 
individual’s right to engage in concerted activity with co-workers in accordance 
with the provisions of the Massachusetts General Laws.  

 
 
Definitions: “Social Media” is: 
 

1. Any  website 
2. Any Social Networking website (e.g. Twitter, Myspace, Facebook, 

LinkedIn, Pinterest, Snapchat, YikYak) 
3. Multimedia sharing websites (e.g. Flicker, YouTube, Vimeo, Picassa, 

Shutterfly) 
4. Blogs (e.g. Wikipedia, PBwiki, Wikispaces) 
5. Forums and discussion boards (e.g. Google Groups, Yahoo! Groups, 

Yammer) 
6. Personally managed websites, blogs, etc. 
7. On-line polls and surveys (e.g. Survey Monkey, Doodle) 
8. Any other web or application accessible site on which an individual user 

can post texts, media, etc. 
 
“Official Social Media” is: 
 
 Any of the sites or services listed in the definition section of this 
Guideline and their affiliated accounts which were established by and through 
the Town of Pembroke and are maintained by the Town of Pembroke, its 
employees, officials, or board members  

 
 
  



Town of Pembroke                                                                                                         GL #17-09 
Town Administrator’s Guidelines                                          Subject:  Social Media Guideline      
  
 

 ____________      
   
      Page 2 of 4 
   

Guidance:    
 

1. Official Social Media sites will be used solely for communicating information 
about projects and services offered by the Town. Examples include 
Town/Department announcements, official Town news, Emergency 
notifications, Town events and activities, or Board or Committee meetings or 
agendas.  Town employees may not engage in private messaging over official 
Town social media accounts. Official Social Media cannot be used to post 
political information or viewpoints, religious information or viewpoints, 
commercial information, information pertaining to an employee’s personal 
activities, matters, or interests, information which consists of content which is 
sexual, pornographic, or adult in character, or information which advocates or 
promotes the use of drugs, alcohol, or tobacco.  
 

2. When posting to Social Media sites you should  do so in a way that is not 
defamatory.  Defamatory communications are those that cause harm to the 
reputation of another person or cause that person to be  ridiculed, held in 
contempt, or lowered in the estimation of the community. Defamatory 
statements will not be tolerated.  Defamatory statements are your own 
responsibility and the Town of Pembroke will not defend you from the 
consequences of your personal actions. 
 

3. You may not misrepresent any non-Official Social Media site as a Town of 
Pembroke Official Social Media site.  The use of the Town’s name and/or of the 
Town Seal are prohibited unless approved by the Town Administrator or his/her 
designee.  Misuse of the Town Seal is a criminal act punishable pursuant to 
M.G.L c. 268, s.35. You may not post information on a non-Official Social 
Media site which can be read as indicating that the information is being posted 
by you in your capacity as a Town employee or official, that it constitutes 
official information of the Town, or that it represents an official viewpoint of the 
Town. If in connection with a posting on a non-Official Social Media site you 
identify yourself as a Town employee or official or it is reasonable to conclude 
that readers will know that you are a Town employee or official, you must 
include a statement that your posting is not made on behalf of, and does not 
represent an official viewpoint of, the Town.  
 

4. You may not use Social Media to post material which is illegal, which is in 
violation of federal or state laws regarding discrimination, or which constitutes 
criminal conduct. You may not use Social Media to post material which 
constitutes an unauthorized disclosure of proprietary or confidential information 
of the Town, information protected by the Town’s attorney-client privilege, 
information constituting the Town’s internal development of a policy, or 
personnel records or information regarding Town employees or the Town’s non-
public labor relations information.. 
 



Town of Pembroke                                                                                                         GL #17-09 
Town Administrator’s Guidelines                                          Subject:  Social Media Guideline      
  
 

 ____________      
   
      Page 3 of 4 
   

 
5. Any reference requests received through any Social Media site for current or 

former employees must be directed to the Town Administrator’s office.  
Comments which you post about current or former employees can have legal 
consequences and you should avoid making any such comments at any time 
which reasonably and foreseeably could have legal consequences. 
 

6. Any posted content on Official Social Media sites that include pictures, 
photographs, likenesses, or images cannot under any circumstances depict 
children under the age of 18, and cannot include the complete names of anyone 
other than Town employees or officials.  If you need to post an item that include 
pictures, photographs, likenesses, or images of another person(s), the individuals 
who are depicted must first sign a release form which expressly authorizes the 
Town of Pembroke to use such image and likeness  online.  If you do not obtain 
permission, the picture, photograph, likeness, or image must be blurred in such a 
manner that the person cannot be identified or recognized. If that is not possible, 
the material cannot be used at all. 
 

7. You should keep in mind that content posted to Official Social Media sites may 
constitute public records within the meaning of the Massachusetts Public 
Records Law and may be obtained by members of the public upon request. 
 

8. You must avoid  communications in any posts or online communications which 
could create a hostile environment for, or where the person reasonably believes 
they are being harassed by, another Town employee.  You must ensure that your 
postings are consistent with other Town Policies, including but not limited to, 
those concerning Sexual Harassment, Workplace Bullying and Offensive 
Conduct, Workplace Conduct Policy, and Code of Ethics. 

 
 
Official Social Media Accounts:  
 

1. Official Social Media accounts of any type may only be initiated, established, 
and/or authorized by the Town Administrator or his designee. 
 

2. Once authorized, any and all Town Departments and Divisions can establish a 
social media account.  The accounts should be used to promote the department 
and its functions and in a manner which complies with the applicable 
requirements of this Guideline. 
 

3. All Official Social Media account login information must be compiled and 
maintained by the Town Administrator’s office. 
 

 
 



Town of Pembroke                                                                                                         GL #17-09 
Town Administrator’s Guidelines                                          Subject:  Social Media Guideline      
  
 

 ____________      
   
      Page 4 of 4 
   

Monitoring: The Town reserves the right to monitor content on all Official Social Media sites 
and to modify or remove any messages, posting, or images that it deems in its 
sole discretion and judgment to be abusive, defamatory, violation of copyright, 
trademark, or other intellectual property rights, or otherwise in violation. 

 
 Any post, comment, or remark that contains obscene or sexual language, 

personal attacks, insults, profane language, racist or discriminating language, or 
personal or private information will also be removed. 

 
 The Town reserves the right to take appropriate disciplinary action for any 

violation of this Guideline on any Official Social Media Site or non-Official 
Social Media site which comes to its attention. 

 
 

Procedure: Failure to comply with this Guideline may lead to disciplinary action. Discipline 
can include, but is not necessarily limited to, a directive to cease the 
misrepresentation of official Town guideline or business, verbal or written 
warning, suspension, and/or further action. 

 

  
 



November 7, 2013 

Page 1 of 3 
 

POLICY PROHIBITING SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN THE WORKPLACE 
IN DEPARTMENTS OF THE TOWN OF PEMBROKE 

 
The following policy statement is issued by the Pembroke Board of Selectmen to insure the 
effective operation of Town Departments.  It supplements any similar policies which may 
already be in effect in any Department. 
 
POLICY 
 
It is unlawful to engage in sexual harassment in the workplace and/or to retaliate against anyone 
involved in any way in a sexual harassment complaint.  It is the policy of the Town of Pembroke 
to promote and maintain a working environment within Town Departments which is free of 
harassment. This includes harassment on the basis of race, color, age, sex, religion, national 
origin, disability, sexual orientation and specifically includes sexual harassment. The Town has 
the duty and responsibility to eliminate sexual harassment from the workplace in Town 
Departments, and will not tolerate or condone sexual harassment in any form by or toward its 
employees. 
 
DEFINITION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
 
Sexual harassment consists of unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and/or 
other verbal or physical acts of a sexual or sex-based nature where: 
 
a. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of 

an individual's employment; or 
b. An employment decision is based on an individual's acceptance or rejection of such 

conduct; or 
c. Such conduct interferes with an individual's work performance; or creates an 

intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment. 
 
Examples of conduct which constitutes sexual harassment include, but are not limited to: 
 
* repeated offensive sexual flirtations, advances, or propositions; 
* continued or repeated verbal abuse or innuendo of a sexual nature; 
* uninvited physical contact such as touching, hugging, patting or pinching; 
* verbal comments of a sexual nature about an individual's body or sexual terms used to 

describe an individual; 
* display of sexually suggestive objects or pictures; 
* jokes or remarks of a sexual nature in front of people who find them offensive; 
* gestures and other actions derogatory or degrading; 
* the demand for sexual favors accompanied by an implied or overt threat  concerning an 

individual's employment status or promises of preferential  treatment; 
* indecent exposure. 
 
 
 



November 7, 2013 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Town of Pembroke Sexual Harassment Policy 
Page 2 
 
 
Sexual harassment is not limited to prohibited behavior by a male employee toward a female 
employee or by a supervisory employee toward a non-supervisory employee. Sexual harassment 
also can be found in any of the following less "traditional” situations: 
 
A man as well as a woman may be the victim of sexual harassment, and a woman as well as a 
man may be the harasser. 
 
The harasser does not have to be the victim's supervisor. (S)he may also be an agent of the 
employer, a supervisory employee who does not supervise the victim, a non-supervisory 
employee, or, in some circumstances, even a non-employee, such as a recipient of public services 
or a vendor. 
 
The victim does not have to be the opposite sex from the harasser. 
 
The victim does not have to be the person at whom the unwelcome sexual conduct is directed. 
(S)he may also be someone who is affected by such conduct when it is directed toward another 
person.  For example, (1) the sexual harassment of one female or male employee may create an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment for another female or male co-worker, or 
may interfere with the co-worker's performance; or (2) an employee who is forced to work in an 
environment where preferential treatment is given to those who submit to sexual advances may 
be adversely affected by such conduct. 
 
Sexual harassment does not depend on the victim having suffered a concrete economic injury as 
a result of the harassed conduct. Improper sexual advances which do not result in the loss of a 
promotion by a victim or the discharge of the victim may, nonetheless, constitute sexual 
harassment where they interfere with the victim's work or create a harmful or offensive work 
environment. 
 
The Town also prohibits employees from taking retaliatory action against anyone who has 
articulated any concern about sexual harassment or who assists in any way with an investigation 
of such a complaint. 
 
REPORTING, ENFORCEMENT AND SANCTIONS 
 
Department employees are responsible for: 
 
Refraining from sexual harassment and voicing immediately any available evidence of such 
behavior to appropriate management. 
 
Cooperating in any investigation of alleged sexual harassment by providing any information 
(s)he possesses concerning the matter being investigated. 
 



November 7, 2013 

Page 3 of 3 
 

Town of Pembroke Sexual Harassment Policy 
Page 3 
 
 
Actively participating in efforts to prevent and eliminate sexual harassment and to maintain a 
working environment free from such discrimination. 
 
Any employee who believes he or she has been harassed should report the incident immediately 
to the head of the Department in which (s)he works, except that if the Department head is the 
alleged harasser, it should be reported to the Selectmen’s Office.   Department heads are 

responsible for taking immediate action by conducting a confidential and fair investigation of all 
complaints.  If the matter is not resolved at the Department level, either the alleged harasser, 
Department head or the victim should report it to the Selectmen’s Office. 
 
In addition to or in lieu of internal reporting, allegations of sexual harassment may be reported 
to: 
 
 Massachusetts Commission   Equal Employment  
 Against Discrimination   Opportunity Commission 
 One Ashburton Place    John F. Kennedy Federal Building 
 Boston, MA  02108    Boston, MA  02108 
 617-727-3990     617-565-3200 
 
 
If, after a thorough investigation, an employee is found to have engaged in sexual harassment 
within the workplace, he/she could be subject to disciplinary action, including, but not limited to 
an oral warning or reprimand, a written warning or reprimand to be placed in a personnel file, 
sensitivity training, suspension, demotion, transfer, termination, or some combination of the 
above. 
 
 
 
 
I, ______________________________, have received a copy of the Sexual and  
Other Unlawful Harassment Policy of the Town of Pembroke. 
 
 
     Signature:________________________________ 
            Date:________________________________ 
 
 











































Open Meeting Law Guide
and Educational Materials

Commonwealth of Massachusetts

Office of Attorney General 
Maura Healey

C
O

M
M

O
N

W
EALTH OF MASSACH

U
SE

T
T

S

January 2018



2 | P a g e  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Contents 
 

Open Meeting Law Guide 
 

Overview ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Certification .................................................................................................................................... 4 

Meetings of Public Bodies ...................................................................................................................... 5 

What constitutes a public body? .................................................................................................... 5 

What constitutes a deliberation? ................................................................................................... 6 

Notice ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Executive Session ................................................................................................................................. 10 

The Ten Purposes for Executive Session ...................................................................................... 11 

Remote Participation............................................................................................................................ 15 

Public Participation............................................................................................................................... 17 

Minutes ................................................................................................................................................ 18 

Open Session Meeting Records .................................................................................................... 19 

Executive Session Meeting Records ............................................................................................. 19 

Open Meeting Law Complaints ............................................................................................................ 20 

What is the Open Meeting Law complaint procedure? ............................................................... 20 

Open Meeting Law Trainings ................................................................................................................ 23 

Contacting the Attorney General ......................................................................................................... 23 

 
 
Appendix 
 
The Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25 ..................................................................................... 25 

940 CMR 29.00: Open Meeting Law Regulations ................................................................................. 36 

Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials ........................................................................ 48 

 
 
 
 
 

 



3 | P a g e  
 

Dear Massachusetts Residents: 
 

One of the most important functions of the Attorney General’s Office is to promote 
openness and transparency in government. Every resident of Massachusetts should be able to 
access and understand the reasoning behind the government policy decisions that affect our 
lives. My office is working to achieve that goal through fair and consistent enforcement of the 
Open Meeting Law, along with robust educational outreach about the law’s requirements. 

 
The Open Meeting Law requires that most meetings of public bodies be held in public, 

and it establishes rules that public bodies must follow in the creation and maintenance of 
records relating to those meetings. Our office is dedicated to providing educational materials, 
outreach and training sessions to ensure that members of public bodies and citizens 
understand their rights and responsibilities under the law. 

 
Whether you are a town clerk or town manager, a member of a public body, or a 

concerned citizen, I want to thank you for taking the time to understand the Open Meeting 
Law.  If you would like additional guidance on the law, I encourage you to contact my Division 
of Open Government at (617) 963-2540 or visit our website at 
www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting for more information. 

 
 
      Sincerely, 

 
 
      Maura Healey 
      Massachusetts Attorney General 

 
  

http://www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting


4 | P a g e  
 

Attorney General’s  
Open Meeting Law Guide 

Overview 

Purpose of the Law          

The purpose of the Open Meeting Law is to ensure transparency in the deliberations on 
which public policy is based.  Because the democratic process depends on the public having 
knowledge about the considerations underlying governmental action, the Open Meeting Law 
requires, with some exceptions, that meetings of public bodies be open to the public.  It also 
seeks to balance the public’s interest in witnessing the deliberations of public officials with the 
government’s need to manage its operations efficiently.   
 

Attorney General’s Authority         

The Open Meeting Law was revised as part of the 2009 Ethics Reform Bill, and now 
centralizes responsibility for statewide enforcement of the law in the Attorney General’s Office.  
G.L. c. 30A, § 19(a).  To help public bodies understand and comply with the law, the Attorney 
General has created the Division of Open Government.  The Division of Open Government 
provides training, responds to inquiries, investigates complaints, and when necessary, makes 
findings and orders remedial action to address violations of the law.  The purpose of this Guide 
is to inform elected and appointed members of public bodies, as well as the interested public, 
of the basic requirements of the law. 
 

Certification           

Within two weeks of a member’s election or appointment or the taking of the oath of 
office, whichever occurs later, all members of public bodies must complete the attached 
Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials certifying that they have received these 
materials, and that they understand the requirements of the Open Meeting Law and the 
consequences of violating it.  The certification must be retained where the public body 
maintains its official records.  All public body members should familiarize themselves with the 
Open Meeting Law, the Attorney General’s regulations, this Guide, and Open Meeting Law 
determinations issued to the member’s public body within the last five years in which the 
Attorney General found a violation of the law.   
 



5 | P a g e  
 

In the event a Certificate has not yet been completed by a presently serving member of 
a public body, the member should complete and submit the Certificate at the earliest 
opportunity to be considered in compliance with the law.  A public body member must sign a 
new Certificate upon reelection or reappointment to the public body but need not sign a 
Certificate when joining a subcommittee. 
 

Open Meeting Law Website         

This Guide is intended to be a clear and concise explanation of the Open Meeting Law’s 
requirements.  The complete law, as well as the Attorney General’s regulations, training 
materials, and determinations and declinations as to complaints can be found on the Attorney 
General’s Open Meeting website, www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting.  Members of public 
bodies, other local and state government officials, and the public are encouraged to visit the 
website regularly for updates on the law and the Attorney General’s interpretations of it. 

Meetings of Public Bodies 

What meetings are covered by the Open Meeting Law?      

With certain exceptions, all meetings of a public body must be open to the public.  A 
meeting is generally defined as “a deliberation by a public body with respect to any matter 
within the body’s jurisdiction.”  As explained more fully below, a deliberation is a 
communication between or among members of a public body.   
 

These four questions will help determine whether a communication constitutes a 
meeting subject to the law:   
 

1) is the communication between or among members of a public body;  
2) if so, does the communication constitute a deliberation;  
3) does the communication involve a matter within the body’s jurisdiction; and  
4) if so, does the communication fall within an exception listed in the law?  

 

What constitutes a public body?         

While there is no comprehensive list of public bodies, any multi-member board, 
commission, committee or subcommittee within the executive or legislative branches1 of state 
government, or within any county, district, city, region or town, if established to serve a public 
purpose, is subject to the law.  The law includes any multi-member body created to advise or 
make recommendations to a public body, and also includes the governing board of any local 
housing or redevelopment authority, and the governing board or body of any authority 
established by the Legislature to serve a public purpose.  The law excludes the Legislature and 

                                                           
Although the Legislature itself is not a public body subject to the Open Meeting Law, certain legislative 
commissions must follow the Law’s requirements. 

http://www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting


6 | P a g e  
 

its committees, bodies of the judicial branch, and bodies appointed by a constitutional officer 
solely for the purpose of advising a constitutional officer.   
 

Boards of selectmen and school committees (including those of charter schools) are 
certainly subject to the Open Meeting Law, as are subcommittees of public bodies, regardless 
of whether their role is decision-making or advisory.  Individual government officials, such as a 
town manager or police chief, and members of their staff are not subject to the law, and so 
they may meet with one another to discuss public business without needing to comply with 
Open Meeting Law requirements.  This exception for individual officials to the general Open 
Meeting Law does not apply where such officials are serving as members of a multiple-member 
public body that is subject to the law. 
 

Bodies appointed by a public official solely for the purpose of advising the official on a 
decision that individual could make alone are not public bodies subject to the Open Meeting 
Law.  For example, a school superintendent appoints a five-member advisory body to assist her 
in nominating candidates for school principal, a task the superintendent could perform herself.  
That advisory body would not be subject to the Open Meeting Law.2 
 

What constitutes a deliberation?        

The Open Meeting Law defines deliberation as “an oral or written communication 
through any medium, including electronic mail, between or among a quorum of a public body 
on any public business within its jurisdiction.”  Distribution of a meeting agenda, scheduling or 
procedural information, or reports or documents that may be discussed at a meeting is often 
helpful to public body members when preparing for upcoming meetings.  These types of 
communications generally will not constitute deliberation, provided that, when these materials 
are distributed, no member of the public body expresses an opinion on matters within the 
body’s jurisdiction.  Additionally, certain communications that may otherwise be considered 
deliberation are specifically exempt by statute from the definition of deliberation (for example, 
discussion of the recess and continuance of a Town Meeting pursuant to G.L. c. 39, § 10A(a) is 
not deliberation).     
 

To be a deliberation, the communication must involve a quorum of the public body.  A 
quorum is usually a simple majority of the members of a public body.  Thus, a communication 
among less than a quorum of the members of a public body will not be a deliberation, unless 
there are multiple communications among the members of the public body that together 
constitute communication among a quorum of members.  Courts have held that the Open 
Meeting Law applies when members of a public body communicate in a serial manner in order 
to evade the application of the law.   
 

Note that the expression of an opinion on matters within the body’s jurisdiction to a 
quorum of a public body is a deliberation, even if no other public body member responds.  For 

                                                           
2 See Connelly v. School Committee of Hanover, 409 Mass. 232 (1991). 



7 | P a g e  
 

example, if a member of a public body sends an email to a quorum of a public body expressing 
her opinion on a matter that could come before that body, this communication violates the law 
even if none of the recipients responds.  
 

What matters are within the jurisdiction of the public body?     

The Open Meeting Law applies only to the discussion of any “matter within the body’s 
jurisdiction.”  The law does not specifically define “jurisdiction.”  As a general rule, any matter 
of public business on which a quorum of the public body may make a decision or 
recommendation is considered a matter within the jurisdiction of the public body.  Certain 
discussions regarding procedural or administrative matters may also relate to public business 
within a body's jurisdiction, such as where the discussion involves the organization and 
leadership of the public body, committee assignments, or rules or bylaws for the body.  
Statements made for political purposes, such as where a public body’s members characterize 
their own past achievements, generally are not considered communications on public business 
within the jurisdiction of the public body. 
 

What are the exceptions to the definition of a meeting?      

There are five exceptions to the definition of a meeting under the Open Meeting Law.   
 

1. Members of a public body may conduct an on-site inspection of a project or program; 
however, they may not deliberate at such gatherings; 

2. Members of a public body may attend a conference, training program or event; 
however, they may not deliberate at such gatherings;  

3. Members of a public body may attend a meeting of another public body provided that 
they communicate only by open participation; however, they may not deliberate at such 
gatherings; 

4. Meetings of quasi-judicial boards or commissions held solely to make decisions in an 
adjudicatory proceeding are not subject to the Open Meeting Law; and 

5. Town Meetings, which are subject to other legal requirements, are not governed by the 
Open Meeting Law.  See, e.g. G.L. c. 39, §§ 9, 10 (establishing procedures for Town 
Meeting). 

 
The Attorney General interprets the exemption for “quasi-judicial boards or 

commissions” to apply only to certain state “quasi-judicial” bodies and a very limited number of 
public bodies at other levels of government whose proceedings are specifically defined as 
“agencies” for purposes of G.L. c. 30A.  
 

We have received several inquiries about the exception for Town Meeting and whether 
it applies to meetings outside of a Town Meeting session by Town Meeting members or Town 
Meeting committees or to deliberation by members of a public body – such as a board of 
selectmen – during a session of Town Meeting.  The Attorney General interprets this exemption 
to mean that the Open Meeting Law does not reach any aspect of Town Meeting.  Therefore, 



8 | P a g e  
 

the Attorney General will not investigate complaints alleging violations in these 
situations.  Note, however, that this is a matter of interpretation and future Attorneys General 
may choose to apply the law in such situations. 

 
Notice 

What are the requirements for posting notice of meetings?     

Except in cases of emergency, a public body must provide the public with notice of its 
meeting 48 hours in advance, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays.  Notice of 
emergency meetings must be posted as soon as reasonably possible prior to the meeting.  Also 
note that other laws, such as those governing procedures for public hearings, may require 
additional notice.   
 

What are the requirements for filing and posting meeting notices for local public bodies? 
           

For local public bodies, meeting notices must be filed with the municipal clerk with 
enough time to permit posting of the notice at least 48 hours in advance of the public meeting.  
Notices may be posted on a bulletin board, in a loose-leaf binder, or on an electronic display 
(e.g. television, computer monitor, or an electronic bulletin board), provided that the notice is 
conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in, on, or near the municipal building in which the 
clerk’s office is located.  In the event that meeting notices posted in the municipal building are 
not visible to the public at all hours, then the municipality must either post notices on the 
outside of the building or adopt the municipal website as the official method of notice posting. 
 

Prior to utilizing the municipal website, the Chief Executive Officer of the municipality 
must authorize or vote to adopt such website as the official method of posting notice.  The 
clerk of the municipality must inform the Division of Open Government of its notice posting 
method and must inform the Division of any future changes to that posting method.  Public 
bodies must consistently use the most current notice posting method on file with the Division.  
A description of the website, including directions on how to locate notices on the website, must 
also be posted on or adjacent to the main and handicapped accessible entrances to the building 
where the clerk’s office is located.  Note that meeting notices must still be available in or 
around the clerk’s office so that members of the public may view the notices during normal 
business hours.   
 

What are the requirements for posting notices for regional, district, county and state public 
bodies?           

For regional or district public bodies and regional school districts, meeting notices must 
be filed and posted in the same manner required of local public bodies in each of the 
communities within the region or district.  As an alternative method of notice, a regional or 
district public body may post a meeting notice on the regional or district public body’s website.  



9 | P a g e  
 

The regional school district committee must file and post notice of the website address, as well 
as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in each city and town within the region 
or district.  A copy of the notice must be filed and kept by the chair of the public body or the 
chair’s designee. 
 

County public bodies must file meeting notices in the office of the county 
commissioners and post notice of the meeting in a manner conspicuously visible to the public 
at all hours at a place or places designated by the county commissioners for notice postings.  As 
an alternative method of notice, a county public body may post notice of meetings on the 
county public body’s website.  The county public body must file and post notice of the website 
address, as well as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in the office of the 
county commissioners.  A copy of the notice shall be filed and kept by the chair of the county 
public body or the chair’s designee.   
 

State public bodies must post meeting notices on the website of the public body or its 
parent agency.  The chair of a state public body must notify the Attorney General in writing of 
the specific webpage location where notices will be posted and of any subsequent changes to 
that posting location.  A copy of each meeting notice must also be sent to the Secretary of 
State’s Regulations Division and should be forwarded to the Executive Office of Administration 
and Finance, which maintains a listing of state public body meetings.   
 

Where a public body adopts a website as the official method of posting notices, it must 
make every effort to ensure that the website is accessible at all hours.  If a website becomes 
inaccessible within 48 hours of a meeting, not including Saturdays, Sundays or legal holidays, 
the website must be restored within six business hours of the discovery.  If the website is not 
restored within six business hours, the public body must re-post notice of its meeting to 
another date and time, in accordance with the requirements of the Open Meeting Law.  
  

A note about accessibility         

Public bodies are subject to all applicable state and federal laws that govern accessibility 
for persons with disabilities.  These laws include the Americans with Disabilities Act, the federal 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and state constitutional provisions.  For instance, public bodies that 
adopt website posting as an alternative method of notice must ensure that the website is 
readily accessible to people with disabilities, including individuals who use screen readers.  All 
open meetings of public bodies must be accessible to persons with disabilities.  Meeting 
locations must be accessible by wheelchair, without the need for special assistance.  Also sign 
language interpreters for deaf or hearing-impaired persons must be provided, subject to 
reasonable advance notice.3  The Attorney General’s Disability Rights Project is available to 
answer questions about accessibility and may be reached at (617) 963-2939.  

                                                           
3 The Massachusetts Commission for the Deaf and Hard of Hearing will assist with arrangements for a sign 
language interpreter.  The Commission may be reached at 617-740-1600 VOICE and 617-740-1700 TTY. 



10 | P a g e  
 

What information must meeting notices contain?      

Meeting notices must be posted in a legible, easily understandable format; contain the 
date, time, and place of the meeting; and list all topics that the chair reasonably anticipates, 48 
hours in advance, will be discussed at the meeting.  The list of topics must be sufficiently 
specific to reasonably inform the public of the issues to be discussed at the meeting.  Where 
there are no anticipated topics for discussion in open session other than the procedural 
requirements for convening an executive session, the public body should list “open session” as 
a topic, in addition to the executive session, so the public is aware that it has the opportunity to 
attend and learn the basis for the executive session.   
 

Meeting notices must also indicate the date and time that the notice was posted, either 
on the notice itself or in a document or website accompanying the notice.  If a notice is revised, 
the revised notice must also conspicuously record both the date and time the original notice 
was posted as well as the date and time the last revision was posted.  Recording the date and 
time enables the public to observe that public bodies are complying with the Open Meeting 
Law’s notice requirements without requiring constant vigilance.  Additionally, in the event of a 
complaint, it provides the Attorney General with evidence of compliance with those 
requirements.   
 

If a discussion topic is proposed after a meeting notice is posted, and it was not 
reasonably anticipated by the chair more than 48 hours before the meeting, the public body 
should update its posting to provide the public with as much notice as possible of what subjects 
will be discussed during the meeting. Although a public body may consider a topic that was not 
listed in the meeting notice if it was not anticipated, the Attorney General strongly encourages 
public bodies to postpone discussion and action on topics that are controversial or may be of 
particular interest to the public if the topic was not listed in the meeting notice. 

 
Executive Session 

When can a public body meet in executive session?      

While all meetings of public bodies must be open to the public, certain topics may be 
discussed in executive, or closed, session.  Before going into an executive session, the chair of 
the public body must first: 
 

• Convene in open session;  
• State the reason for the executive session, stating all subjects that may be revealed 

without compromising the purpose for which the executive session was called;   
• State whether the public body will reconvene in open session at the end of the 

executive session; and   
• Take a roll call vote of the body to enter executive session. 

 



11 | P a g e  
 

Where a public body member is participating in an executive session remotely, the 
member must state at the start of the executive session that no other person is present or able 
to hear the discussion at the remote location.  The public body may authorize, by a simple 
majority vote, the presence and participation of other individuals at the remote participant’s 
location. 
 

While in executive session, the public body must keep accurate records, all votes taken 
must be recorded by roll call, and the public body may only discuss matters for which the 
executive session was called.  
 

The Ten Purposes for Executive Session        

The law states ten specific purposes for which an executive session may be held, and 
emphasizes that these are the only reasons for which a public body may enter executive 
session.  
 

The ten purposes for which a public body may vote to hold an executive session are: 
 

1. To discuss the reputation, character, physical condition or mental health, rather than 
professional competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or dismissal of, 
or complaints or charges brought against, a public officer, employee, staff member or 
individual.  The individual to be discussed in such executive session shall be notified in 
writing by the public body at least 48 hours prior to the proposed executive session; 
provided, however, that notification may be waived upon written agreement of the 
parties.  

 
This purpose is designed to protect the rights and reputation of individuals. 

Nevertheless, where a public body is discussing an employee evaluation, considering 
applicants for a position, or discussing the qualifications of any individual, these 
discussions should be held in open session to the extent that the discussion deals with 
issues other than the reputation, character, health, or any complaints or charges against 
the individual.  An executive session called for this purpose triggers certain rights for the 
individual who is the subject of the discussion.  The individual has the right to be 
present, though he or she may choose not to attend.  The individual who is the subject 
of the discussion may also choose to have the discussion in an open meeting, and that 
choice takes precedence over the right of the public body to go into executive session. 

 
While the imposition of disciplinary sanctions by a public body on an individual 

fits within this purpose, this purpose does not apply if, for example, the public body is 
deciding whether to lay off a large number of employees because of budgetary 
constraints. 

 



12 | P a g e  
 

2. To conduct strategy sessions in preparation for negotiations with nonunion personnel 
or to conduct collective bargaining sessions or contract negotiations with nonunion 
personnel; 

 
Generally, a public body must identify the specific non-union personnel or 

collective bargaining unit with which it is negotiating before entering into executive 
session under Purpose 2.  A public body may withhold the identity of the non-union 
personnel or bargaining unit if publicly disclosing that information would compromise 
the purpose for which the executive session was called.  While we generally defer to 
public bodies’ assessment of whether the inclusion of such details would compromise 
the purpose for an executive session, a public body must be able to demonstrate a 
reasonable basis for that claim if challenged. 

 
While a public body may agree on terms with individual non-union personnel in 

executive session, the final vote to execute such agreements must be taken by the 
public body in open session.  In contrast, a public body may approve final terms and 
execute a collective bargaining agreement in executive session, but should promptly 
disclose the agreement in open session following its execution.   

 
Collective Bargaining Sessions:  These include not only the bargaining sessions, 

but also include grievance hearings that are required by a collective bargaining 
agreement. 

 
3. To discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining or litigation if an open 

meeting may have a detrimental effect on the bargaining or litigating position of the 
public body and the chair so declares; 

 
Generally, a public body must identify the collective bargaining unit with which it 

is negotiating or the litigation matter it is discussing before entering into executive 
session under Purpose 3.  A public body may withhold the identity of the collective 
bargaining unit or name of the litigation matter if publicly disclosing that information 
would compromise the purpose for which the executive session was called.  While we 
generally defer to public bodies’ assessment of whether the inclusion of such details 
would compromise the purpose for an executive session, a public body must be able to 
demonstrate a reasonable basis for that claim if challenged. 

 
Collective Bargaining Strategy:  Discussions with respect to collective bargaining 

strategy include discussion of proposals for wage and benefit packages or working 
conditions for union employees.  The public body, if challenged, has the burden of 
proving that an open meeting might have a detrimental effect on its bargaining position.  
The showing that must be made is that an open discussion may have a detrimental 
effect on the collective bargaining process; the body is not required to demonstrate a 
definite harm that would have arisen.  At the time the executive session is proposed and 



13 | P a g e  
 

voted on, the chair must state on the record that having the discussion in an open 
session may be detrimental to the public body’s bargaining or litigating position. 

 
Litigation Strategy:  Discussions concerning strategy with respect to ongoing 

litigation obviously fit within this purpose but only if an open meeting may have a 
detrimental effect on the litigating position of the public body. Discussions relating to 
potential litigation are not covered by this exemption unless that litigation is clearly and 
imminently threatened or otherwise demonstrably likely.  That a person is represented 
by counsel and supports a position adverse to the public body’s does not by itself mean 
that litigation is imminently threatened or likely.  Nor does the fact that a newspaper 
reports a party has threatened to sue necessarily mean imminent litigation.   

 
Note:  For the reasons discussed above, a public body’s discussions with its 

counsel do not automatically fall under this or any other purpose for holding an 
executive session. 

 
4. To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devices, or strategies with respect 

thereto; 
 

5. To investigate charges of criminal misconduct or to consider the filing of criminal 
complaints; 

 
This purpose permits an executive session to investigate charges of criminal 

misconduct and to consider the filing of criminal complaints.  Thus, it primarily involves 
discussions that would precede the formal criminal process in court.  Purpose 1 is 
related, in that it permits an executive session to discuss certain complaints or charges, 
which may include criminal complaints or charges, but only those that have already 
been brought.  However, Purpose 1 confers certain rights of participation on the 
individual involved, as well as the right for the individual to insist that the discussion 
occur in open session.  Purpose 5 does not require that the same rights be given to the 
person who is the subject of a criminal complaint. To the limited extent that there is 
overlap between Purposes 1 and 5, a public body has discretion to choose which 
purpose to invoke when going into executive session. 

 
6. To consider the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if the chair 

declares that an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the negotiating 
position of the public body; 

 
Generally, a public body must identify the specific piece of property it plans to 

discuss before entering into executive session under Purpose 6.  A public body may 
withhold the identity of the property if publicly disclosing that information would 
compromise the purpose for which the executive session was called.  While we 
generally defer to public bodies’ assessment of whether the inclusion of such details 



14 | P a g e  
 

would compromise the purpose for an executive session, a public body must be able to 
demonstrate a reasonable basis for that claim if challenged. 

 
Under this purpose, as with the collective bargaining and litigation purpose, an 

executive session may be held only where an open meeting may have a detrimental 
impact on the body’s negotiating position with a third party.  At the time that the 
executive session is proposed and voted on, the chair must state on the record that 
having the discussion in an open session may be detrimental to the public body’s 
negotiating position. 

 
7. To comply with, or act under the authority of, any general or special law or federal 

grant-in-aid requirements; 
 

There may be provisions in state statutes or federal grants that require or 
specifically allow a public body to consider a particular issue in a closed session.  Before 
entering executive session under this purpose, the public body must cite the specific law 
or federal grant-in-aid requirement that necessitates confidentiality.  A public body may 
withhold that information only if publicly disclosing it would compromise the purpose 
for which the executive session was called.  While we generally defer to public bodies’ 
assessment of whether the inclusion of such details would compromise the purpose for 
an executive session, a public body must be able to demonstrate a reasonable basis for 
that claim if challenged. 

 
8. To consider or interview applicants for employment or appointment by a preliminary 

screening committee if the chair declares that an open meeting will have a 
detrimental effect in obtaining qualified applicants; provided, however, that this 
clause shall not apply to any meeting, including meetings of a preliminary screening 
committee, to consider and interview applicants who have passed a prior preliminary 
screening; 

 
This purpose permits a hiring subcommittee of a public body or a preliminary 

screening committee to conduct the initial screening process in executive session.  This 
purpose does not apply to any stage in the hiring process after the screening committee 
or subcommittee votes to recommend candidates to its parent body.  It may, however, 
include a review of résumés and multiple rounds of interviews by the screening 
committee aimed at narrowing the group of applicants down to finalists.  At the time 
that the executive session is proposed and voted on, the chair must state on the record 
that having the discussion in an open session will be detrimental to the public body’s 
ability to attract qualified applicants for the position.  If the public body opts to convene 
a preliminary screening committee, the committee must contain less than a quorum of 
the members of the parent public body.  The committee may also contain members 
who are not members of the parent public body. 

 



15 | P a g e  
 

Note that a public body is not required to create a preliminary screening 
committee to consider or interview applicants.  However, if the body chooses to 
conduct the review of applicants itself, it may not do so in executive session. 

 
9. To meet or confer with a mediator, as defined in section 23C of chapter 233, with 

respect to any litigation or decision on any public business within its jurisdiction 
involving another party, group or entity, provided that: 

 
(i) any decision to participate in mediation shall be made in an open session and the 
parties, issues involved and purpose of the mediation shall be disclosed; and 

 
(ii) no action shall be taken by any public body with respect to those issues which are 
the subject of the mediation without deliberation and approval for such action at an 
open session. 

 
10. To discuss trade secrets or confidential, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary 

information provided: 
 

• in the course of activities conducted by a governmental body as an energy supplier 
under a license granted by the department of public utilities pursuant to section 1F 
of chapter 164;  

• in the course of activities conducted as a municipal aggregator under section 134 of 
said chapter 164; or 

• in the course of activities conducted by a cooperative consisting of governmental 
entities organized pursuant to section 136 of said chapter 164; 

• when such governmental body, municipal aggregator or cooperative determines 
that such disclosure will adversely affect its ability to conduct business in relation to 
other entities making, selling or distributing electric power and energy. 

 
Remote Participation 

May a member of a public body participate remotely?      

The Attorney General’s Regulations, 940 CMR 29.10, permit remote participation in 
certain circumstances.  However, the Attorney General strongly encourages members of public 
bodies to physically attend meetings whenever possible.  Members of public bodies have a 
responsibility to ensure that remote participation in meetings is not used in a way that would 
defeat the purposes of the Open Meeting Law, namely promoting transparency with regard to 
deliberations and decisions on which public policy is based.   
 

Note that the Attorney General’s regulations enable members of public bodies to 
participate remotely if the practice has been properly adopted, but do not require that a public 
body permit members of the public to participate remotely.  If a public body chooses to allow 



16 | P a g e  
 

individuals who are not members of the public body to participate remotely in a meeting, it 
may do so without following the Open Meeting Law’s remote participation procedures. 
 

How can the practice of remote participation be adopted?     

Remote participation may be used during a meeting of a public body if it has first been 
adopted by the chief executive officer of the municipality for local public bodies, the county 
commissioners for county public bodies, or by a majority vote of the public body for retirement 
boards, district, regional and state public bodies.  The chief executive officer may be the board 
of selectmen, the city council, or the mayor, depending on the municipality.  See G.L. c. 4, § 7.  
 

If the chief executive officer in a municipality authorizes remote participation, that 
authorization applies to all public bodies in the municipality.  940 CMR 29.10(2)(a).  However, 
the chief executive officer determines the amount and source of payment for any costs 
associated with remote participation and may decide to fund the practice only for certain public 
bodies.  See 940 CMR 29.10(6)(e).  In addition, the chief executive officer can authorize public 
bodies in that municipality to "opt out" of the practice altogether.  See 940 CMR 29.10(8).   
 

Note about Local Commissions on Disability:  Local commissions on disability may decide 
by majority vote of the commissioners at a regular meeting to permit remote participation 
during a specific meeting or during all commission meetings.  G.L. c. 30A, § 20(e).  Adoption by 
the municipal adopting authority is not required. 
 

What are the permissible reasons for remote participation?     

Once remote participation is adopted, any member of a public body may participate 
remotely only if physical attendance would be unreasonably difficult. 
 

What are the acceptable means of remote participation?     

Acceptable means of remote participation include telephone, internet, or satellite 
enabled audio or video conferencing, or any other technology that enables the remote 
participant and all persons present at the meeting location to be clearly audible to one another.  
Text messaging, instant messaging, email and web chat without audio are not acceptable 
methods of remote participation.  Note that accommodations must be made for any public 
body member who requires TTY service, video relay service, or other form of adaptive 
telecommunications.   
 
 
 
 
 
 



17 | P a g e  
 

What are the minimum requirements for remote participation?     

Any public body using remote participation during a meeting must ensure that the following 
minimum requirements are met: 
 

1. A quorum of the body, including the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person chairing 
the meeting, must be physically present at the meeting location; 

2. Members of a public body who participate remotely and all persons present at the 
meeting location must be clearly audible to each other; and 

3. All votes taken during a meeting in which a member participates remotely must be by 
roll call vote. 

What procedures must be followed if remote participation is used at a meeting?  

At the start of any meeting during which a member of a public body will participate 
remotely, the chair must announce the name of any member who is participating remotely; 
such information must also be recorded in the meeting minutes.  The chair’s statement does 
not need to contain any detail about the reason for the member’s remote participation.     

 
Members of public bodies who participate remotely may vote and shall not be deemed 

absent for purposes of G.L. c. 39, § 23D.  In addition, members who participate remotely may 
participate in executive sessions but must state at the start of any such session that no other 
person is present or able to hear the discussion at the remote location, unless the public body 
has approved the presence of that individual. 
 

If technical difficulties arise as a result of utilizing remote participation, the chair (or, in 
the chair’s absence, person chairing the meeting) may decide how to address the situation.  
Public bodies are encouraged, whenever possible, to suspend discussion while reasonable 
efforts are made to correct any problem that interferes with a remote participant’s ability to 
hear or be heard clearly by all persons present at the meeting location.  If a remote participant 
is disconnected from the meeting, the minutes must note that fact and the time at which the 
disconnection occurred. 

 
Public Participation 

What public participation in meetings must be allowed?      

Under the Open Meeting Law, the public is permitted to attend meetings of public 
bodies but is excluded from an executive session that is called for a valid purpose listed in the 
law.  While the public is permitted to attend an open meeting, an individual may not address 
the public body without permission of the chair.  An individual may not disrupt a meeting of a 
public body, and at the request of the chair, all members of the public shall be silent.  If, after 
clear warning, a person continues to be disruptive, the chair may order the person to leave the 
meeting.  If the person does not leave, the chair may authorize a constable or other officer to 
remove the person.  Although public participation is entirely within the chair’s discretion, the 



18 | P a g e  
 

Attorney General encourages public bodies to allow as much public participation as time 
permits.  
 

Any member of the public may make an audio or video recording of an open session of a 
public meeting.  A member of the public who wishes to record a meeting must first notify the 
chair and must comply with reasonable requirements regarding audio or video equipment 
established by the chair so as not to interfere with the meeting.  The chair is required to inform 
other attendees of any such recording at the beginning of the meeting.  If someone arrives after 
the meeting has begun and wishes to record a meeting, that person should attempt to notify 
the chair prior to beginning recording, ideally in a manner that does not significantly disrupt the 
meeting in progress (such as passing a note for the chair to the board administrator or 
secretary). The chair should endeavor to acknowledge such attempts at notification and 
announce the fact of any recording to those in attendance. 

Minutes 

What records of public meetings must be kept?       

Public bodies are required to create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings, 
including executive sessions.  The minutes, which must be created and approved in a timely 
manner, must include:  
 

• the date, time and place of the meeting;  
• the members present or absent;  
• the decisions made and actions taken, including a record of all votes; 
• a summary of the discussions on each subject; 
• a list of all documents and exhibits used at the meeting; and 
• the name of any member who participated in the meeting remotely.   

 
While the minutes must include a summary of the discussions on each subject, a 

transcript is not required.  No vote taken by a public body, either in an open or in an executive 
session, shall be by secret ballot.  All votes taken in executive session must be by roll call and 
the results recorded in the minutes.  While public bodies must identify in the minutes all 
documents and exhibits used at a meeting and must retain them in accordance with the 
Secretary of the Commonwealth’s records retention schedule, these documents and exhibits 
needn’t be attached to or physically stored with the minutes.   
 

Minutes, and all documents and exhibits used, are public records and a part of the 
official record of the meeting.  Records may be subject to disclosure under either the Open 
Meeting Law or Public Records Law.  The State and Municipal Record Retention Schedules are 
available through the Secretary of the Commonwealth’s website at: 
http://www.sec.state.ma.us/arc/arcrmu/rmuidx.htm. 

http://www.sec.state.ma.us/arc/arcrmu/rmuidx.htm


19 | P a g e  
 

Open Session Meeting Records         

The Open Meeting Law requires public bodies to create and approve minutes in a timely 
manner.  A “timely manner” is considered to be within the next three public body meetings or 
30 days from the date of the meeting, whichever is later, unless the public body can show good 
cause for further delay.   The Attorney General encourages minutes to be approved at a public 
body’s next meeting whenever possible.  The law requires that existing minutes be made 
available to the public within ten days of a request, whether they have been approved or 
remain in draft form.  Materials or other exhibits used by the public body in an open meeting 
must also be made available to the public within ten days of a request.   
 

There are two exemptions to the open session records disclosure requirement:  1) 
materials (other than those that were created by members of the public body for the purpose 
of the evaluation) used in a performance evaluation of an individual bearing on his professional 
competence, and 2) materials (other than any résumé submitted by an applicant, which is 
subject to disclosure) used in deliberations about employment or appointment of individuals, 
including applications and supporting materials.  Documents created by members of the public 
body for the purpose of performing an evaluation are subject to disclosure.  This applies to both 
individual evaluations and evaluation compilations, provided the documents were created by 
members of the public body for the purpose of the evaluation.  
 

Executive Session Meeting Records        

Public bodies are not required to disclose the minutes, notes, or other materials used in 
an executive session if the disclosure of these records may defeat the lawful purposes of the 
executive session.  Once disclosure would no longer defeat the purposes of the executive 
session, however, minutes and other records from that executive session must be disclosed 
unless they fall within an exemption to the Public Records Law, G.L. c. 4, § 7, cl. 26, or the 
attorney-client privilege applies.  Public bodies are also required to periodically review their 
executive session minutes to determine whether continued non-disclosure is warranted.  These 
determinations must be included in the minutes of the body’s next meeting.   

 
A public body must respond to a request to inspect or copy executive session minutes 

within ten days of the request.  If the public body has determined, prior to the request, that the 
requested executive session minutes may be released, it must make those minutes available to 
the requestor at that time.  If the body previously determined that executive session minutes 
should remain confidential because publication would defeat the lawful purposes of the 
executive session, it should respond by stating the reason the minutes continue to be withheld.  
And if, at the time of a request, the public body has not conducted a review of the minutes to 
determine whether continued nondisclosure is warranted, the body must perform such a 
review and release the minutes, if appropriate, no later than its next meeting or within 30 days, 
whichever occurs first.  In such circumstances, the body should still respond to the request 
within ten days, notifying the requestor that it is conducting this review. 
 



20 | P a g e  
 

Open Meeting Law Complaints 

What is the Attorney General’s role in enforcing the Open Meeting Law?   

The Attorney General’s Division of Open Government is responsible for enforcing the 
Open Meeting Law.  The Attorney General has the authority to receive and investigate 
complaints, bring enforcement actions, issue advisory opinions, and promulgate regulations.   
 

The Division of Open Government regularly seeks feedback from the public on ways in 
which it can better support public bodies to help them comply with the law’s requirements.  
The Division of Open Government offers periodic online and in-person training on the Open 
Meeting Law and will respond to requests for guidance and information from public bodies and 
the public.   
 

The Division of Open Government will take complaints from members of the public and 
will work with public bodies to resolve problems.  While any member of the public may file a 
complaint with a public body alleging a violation of the Open Meeting Law, a public body need 
not, and the Division of Open Government will not, investigate anonymous complaints.   
 

What is the Open Meeting Law complaint procedure?      

Step 1.  Filing a Complaint with the Public Body 
Individuals who allege a violation of the Open Meeting Law must first file a complaint 

with the public body alleged to have violated the OML.  The complaint must be filed within 30 
days of the date of the violation, or the date the complainant could reasonably have known of 
the violation.  The complaint must be filed on a Complaint Form available on the Attorney 
General’s website, www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting. When filing a complaint with a local 
public body, the complainant must also file a copy of the complaint with the municipal clerk.   
 

Step 2.  The Public Body’s Response 
Upon receipt, the chair of the public body should distribute copies of the complaint to 

the members of the public body for their review.  The public body has 14 business days from 
the date of receipt to meet to review the complainant’s allegations, take remedial action if 
appropriate, notify the complainant of the remedial action, and forward a copy of the 
complaint and description of the remedial action taken to the complainant.  The public body 
must simultaneously notify the Attorney General that it has responded to the complainant and 
provide the Attorney General with a copy of the response and a description of any remedial 
action taken.  While the public body may delegate responsibility for responding to the 
complaint to counsel or another individual, it must first meet to do so.  A public body is not 
required to respond to unsigned complaints or complaints not made on the Attorney General’s 
complaint form. 
 

http://www.mass.gov/ago/docs/government/oml/ago-open-meeting-law-complaint-form.pdf
http://www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting


21 | P a g e  
 

The public body may request additional information from the complainant within seven 
business days of receiving the complaint.  The complainant then has ten business days to 
respond; the public body will then have an additional ten business days after receiving the 
complainant’s response to review the complaint and take remedial action.  The public body 
may also request an extension of time to respond to the complaint.  A request for an extension 
should be made within 14 business days of receipt of the complaint by the public body.  The 
request for an extension should be made in writing to the Division of Open Government and 
should include a copy of the complaint and state the reason for the requested extension. 
 

Step 3.  Filing a Complaint with the Attorney General’s Office    
A complaint is ripe for review by the Attorney General 30 days after the complaint is 

filed with the public body.  This 30-day period is intended to provide a reasonable opportunity 
for the complainant and the public body to resolve the initial complaint.  It is important to note 
that complaints are not automatically treated as filed for review by the Attorney General upon 
filing with the public body.  A complainant who has filed a complaint with a public body and 
seeks further review by the Division of Open Government must file the complaint with the 
Attorney General after the 30-day local review period has elapsed but before 90 days have 
passed since the date of the violation or the date that the violation was reasonably 
discoverable.   
 

When filing the complaint with the Attorney General, the complainant must include a 
copy of the original complaint and may include any other materials the complainant feels are 
relevant, including an explanation of why the complainant is not satisfied with the response of 
the public body.  Note, however, that the Attorney General will not review allegations that 
were not raised in the initial complaint filed with the public body.  Under most circumstances, 
complaints filed with the Attorney General, and any documents submitted with the complaint, 
will be considered a public record and will be made available to anyone upon request.  
 

The Attorney General will review the complaint and any remedial action taken by the 
public body.  The Attorney General may request additional information from both the 
complainant and the public body.  The Attorney General will seek to resolve complaints in a 
reasonable period of time, generally within 90 days of the complaint becoming ripe for review 
by our office.  The Attorney General may decline to investigate a complaint that is filed with our 
office more than 90 days after the date of the alleged violation. 
 

May a public body request mediation to resolve a complaint? 

If a complainant files five complaints with the same public body or within the same 
municipality within 12 months, the public body may request mediation upon the fifth or 
subsequent complaint in order to resolve the complaint.  The public body must request 
mediation prior to, or with, its response to the complaint, and will assume the expense of such 
mediation.  If the parties cannot come to an agreement after mediation, the public body will 



22 | P a g e  
 

have ten business days to respond to the complaint and its resolution will proceed in the 
normal course.   
 

Mediation may occur in open session or in executive session under Purpose 9.  In 
addition, a public body may designate a representative to participate on behalf of the public 
body.  If mediation does not resolve the complaint to each party’s satisfaction, the complainant 
may file the complaint with the Attorney General.  The complaint must be filed within 30 days 
of the last joint meeting with the mediator.  
 

The mediator will be chosen by the Attorney General.  If the complainant declines to 
participate in mediation after a request by the public body, the Attorney General may decline 
to review a complaint thereafter filed with our office.  A public body may always request 
mediation to resolve a complaint, but only mediation requested upon a fifth or subsequent 
complaint triggers the requirement that the complainant participate in the mediation before 
the Attorney General will review the complaint. 
 

Any written agreement reached in mediation must be disclosed at the public body’s 
next meeting following execution of the agreement and will become a public record. 
 

When is a violation of the law considered “intentional”?      

Upon finding a violation of the Open Meeting Law, the Attorney General may impose a 
civil penalty upon a public body of not more than $1,000 for each intentional violation.  G.L. c. 
30A, § 23(c)(4).  An “intentional violation” is an act or omission by a public body or public body 
member in knowing violation of the Open Meeting Law.  G.L. c. 30A, § 18.  In determining 
whether a violation was intentional, the Attorney General will consider, among other things, 
whether the public body or public body member 1) acted with specific intent to violate the law; 
2) acted with deliberate ignorance of the law’s requirements; or 3) had been previously 
informed by a court decision or advised by the Attorney General that the conduct at issue 
violated the Open Meeting Law.  940 CMR 29.02.  If a public body or public body member made 
a good faith attempt at compliance with the law but was reasonably mistaken about its 
requirements, its conduct will not be considered an intentional violation of the Law.  G.L. c. 
30A, § 23(g); 940 CMR 29.02.  A fine will not be imposed where a public body or public body 
member acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body's legal counsel.  G.L. 
30A, § 23(g); 940 CMR 29.07. 

 
 
 
 
 



23 | P a g e  
 

Will the Attorney General’s Office provide training on the Open 
Meeting Law?  
 

The Open Meeting Law directs the Attorney General to create educational materials and 
provide training to public bodies to foster awareness of and compliance with the Open Meeting 
Law.  The Attorney General has established an Open Meeting Law website, 
www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting, on which government officials and members of public 
bodies can find the statute, regulations, FAQs, training materials, the Attorney General’s 
determination letters resolving complaints, and other resources.  The Attorney General offers 
periodic webinars and in-person regional training events for members of the public and public 
bodies, in addition to offering a free online training video.   

Contacting the Attorney General       
 

If you have any questions about the Open Meeting Law or anything contained in this 
guide, please contact the Attorney General’s Division of Open Government.  The Attorney 
General also welcomes any comments, feedback, or suggestions you may have about the Open 
Meeting Law or this guide.  
 

Division of Open Government 
Office of the Attorney General 

One Ashburton Place 
Boston, MA  02108 
Tel: 617-963-2540 

www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting 
OpenMeeting@state.ma.us 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting
http://www.mass.gov/ago/openmeeting
mailto:OpenMeeting@state.ma.us


24 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



25 | P a g e  
 

The Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-254 

 
Chapter 28 of the Acts of 2009, sections 17–20, repealed the existing state Open Meeting Law, G.L. 

c. 30A, §§ 11A, 11A-1/2, county Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 34, §9F, 9G, and municipal Open Meeting 
Law, G.L. c. 39, §§ 23A, 23B, and 23C, and replaced them with a single Open Meeting Law covering all 
public bodies, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25, enforced by the Attorney General. 

Section 18: [DEFINITIONS] 
 

As used in this section and sections 19 to 25, inclusive, the following words shall, unless the 
context clearly requires otherwise, have the following meanings: 

“Deliberation”, an oral or written communication through any medium, including electronic mail, 
between or among a quorum of a public body on any public business within its jurisdiction; provided, 
however, that “deliberation” shall not include the distribution of a meeting agenda, scheduling 
information or distribution of other procedural meeting or the distribution of reports or documents 
that may be discussed at a meeting, provided that no opinion of a member is expressed. 

“Emergency”, a sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding 
immediate action. 

“Executive session”, any part of a meeting of a public body closed to the public for deliberation of 
certain matters. 

“Intentional violation”, an act or omission by a public body or a member thereof, in knowing 
violation of the open meeting law. 

“Meeting”, a deliberation by a public body with respect to any matter within the body’s 
jurisdiction; provided, however, “meeting” shall not include: 

(a) an on-site inspection of a project or program, so long as the members do not deliberate; 
(b) attendance by a quorum of a public body at a public or private gathering, including a 

conference or training program or a media, social or other event, so long as the members do 
not deliberate; 

(c) attendance by a quorum of a public body at a meeting of another public body that has 
complied with the notice requirements of the open meeting law, so long as the visiting 
members communicate only by open participation in the meeting on those matters under 
discussion by the host body and do not deliberate;  

(d) a meeting of a quasi-judicial board or commission held for the sole purpose of making a 
decision required in an adjudicatory proceeding brought before it; or 

(e) a session of a town meeting convened under section 9 of chapter 39 which would include 
the attendance by a quorum of a public body at any such session; 

 

                                                           
4 NOTICE: This is NOT the official version of the Massachusetts General Law (MGL). While reasonable efforts have 
been made to ensure the accuracy and currency of the data provided, do not rely on this information without first 
checking an official edition of the MGL. 



26 | P a g e  
 

“Minutes”, the written report of a meeting created by a public body required by subsection (a) of 
section 22 and section 5A of chapter 66. 
“Open meeting law”, sections 18 to 25, inclusive. 
“Post notice”, to display conspicuously the written announcement of a meeting either in hard 

copy or electronic format. 
“Preliminary screening”, the initial stage of screening applicants conducted by a committee or 

subcommittee of a public body solely for the purpose of providing to the public body a list of those 
applicants qualified for further consideration or interview. 

“Public body”, a multiple-member board, commission, committee or subcommittee within the 
executive or legislative branch or within any county, district, city, region or town, however created, 
elected, appointed or otherwise constituted, established to serve a public purpose; provided, 
however, that the governing board of a local housing, redevelopment or other similar authority shall 
be deemed a local public body; provided, further, that the governing board or body of any other 
authority established by the general court to serve a public purpose in the commonwealth or any 
part thereof shall be deemed a state public body; provided, further, that “public body” shall not 
include the general court or the committees or recess commissions thereof, bodies of the judicial 
branch or bodies appointed by a constitutional officer solely for the purpose of advising a 
constitutional officer and shall not include the board of bank incorporation or the policyholders 
protective board; and provided further, that a subcommittee shall include any multiple-member 
body created to advise or make recommendations to a public body. 

“Quorum”, a simple majority of the members of the public body, unless otherwise provided in a 
general or special law, executive order or other authorizing provision. 

Section 19. Division of Open Government; Open Meeting Law Training; Open Meeting Law 
Advisory Commission; Annual Report 

(a) There shall be in the department of the attorney general a division of open government under 
the direction of a director of open government. The attorney general shall designate an 
assistant attorney general as the director of the open government division. The director may 
appoint and remove, subject to the approval of the attorney general, such expert, clerical and 
other assistants as the work of the division may require. The division shall perform the duties 
imposed upon the attorney general by the open meeting law, which may include participating, 
appearing and intervening in any administrative and judicial proceedings pertaining to the 
enforcement of the open meeting law. For the purpose of such participation, appearance, 
intervention and training authorized by this chapter the attorney general may expend such 
funds as may be appropriated therefor. 

(b) The attorney general shall create and distribute educational materials and provide training 
to public bodies in order to foster awareness and compliance with the open meeting law. 
Open meeting law training may include, but shall not be limited to, instruction in: 

1. the general background of the legal requirements for the open meeting law; 
2. applicability of sections 18 to 25, inclusive, to governmental bodies; 
3. the role of the attorney general in enforcing the open meeting law; and 
4. penalties and other consequences for failure to comply with this chapter. 



27 | P a g e  
 

(c) There shall be an open meeting law advisory commission. The commission shall consist of 5 
members, 2 of whom shall be the chairmen of the joint committee on state administration 
and regulatory oversight; 1 of whom shall be the president of the Massachusetts Municipal 
Association or his designee; 1 of whom shall be the president of the Massachusetts 
Newspaper Publishers Association or his designee; and 1 of whom shall be the attorney 
general or his designee. 
The commission shall review issues relative to the open meeting law and shall submit to the 
attorney general recommendations for changes to the regulations, trainings, and educational 
initiatives relative to the open meeting law as it deems necessary and appropriate. 

(d) The attorney general shall, not later than January 31, file annually with the commission a report 
providing information on the enforcement of the open meeting law during the preceding 
calendar year. The report shall include, but not be limited to: 

1. the number of open meeting law complaints received by the attorney general; 
2. the number of hearings convened as the result of open meeting law complaints by 

the attorney general; 
3. a summary of the determinations of violations made by the attorney general; 
4. a summary of the orders issued as the result of the determination of an open 

meeting law violation by the attorney general; 
5. an accounting of the fines obtained by the attorney general as the result of open 

meeting law enforcement actions; 
6. the number of actions filed in superior court seeking relief from an order of the 

attorney general; and 
7. any additional information relevant to the administration and enforcement of the 

open meeting law that the attorney general deems appropriate. 

Section 20. Meetings of a Public Body to be Open to the Public; Notice of Meeting; Remote 
Participation; Recording and Transmission of Meeting; Removal of Persons for Disruption of 
Proceedings 

(a) Except as provided in section 21, all meetings of a public body shall be open to the public. 
(b) Except in an emergency, in addition to any notice otherwise required by law, a public body 

shall post notice of every meeting at least 48 hours prior to such meeting, excluding 
Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays. In an emergency, a public body shall post notice as 
soon as reasonably possible prior to such meeting. Notice shall be printed in a legible, easily 
understandable format and shall contain the date, time and place of such meeting and a 
listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed at the meeting. 

(c) For meetings of a local public body, notice shall be filed with the municipal clerk and posted in 
a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in or on the municipal building in 
which the clerk’s office is located. 

For meetings of a regional or district public body, notice shall be filed and posted in 
each city or town within the region or district in the manner prescribed for local public bodies. 
For meetings of a regional school district, the secretary of the regional school district 
committee shall be considered to be its clerk and shall file notice with the clerk of each city or 



28 | P a g e  
 

town within such district and shall post the notice in the manner prescribed for local public 
bodies. For meetings of a county public body, notice shall be filed in the office of the county 
commissioners and a copy of the notice shall be publicly posted in a manner conspicuously 
visible to the public at all hours in such place or places as the county commissioners shall 
designate for the purpose. 

For meetings of a state public body, notice shall be filed with the attorney general by 
posting on a website in accordance with procedures established for this purpose and a 
duplicate copy of the notice shall be filed with the regulations division of the state secretary‘s 
office. 
  The attorney general may prescribe or approve alternative methods of notice where 
the attorney general determines the alternative methods will afford more effective notice to 
the public. 

(d) The attorney general may, by regulation or letter ruling, authorize remote participation by 
members of a public body not present at the meeting location; provided, however, that the 
absent members and all persons present at the meeting location are clearly audible to each 
other; and provided, further, that a quorum of the body, including the chair, are present at 
the meeting location. Such authorized members may vote and shall not be deemed absent for 
the purposes of section 23D of chapter 39. 

(e) A local commission on disability may by majority vote of the commissioners at a regular 
meeting authorize remote participation applicable to a specific meeting or generally to all of 
the commission’s meetings. If a local commission on disability is authorized to utilize remote 
participation, a physical quorum of that commission’s members shall not be required to be 
present at the meeting location; provided, however, that the chair or, in the chair’s absence, 
the person authorized to chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the meeting location. 
The commission shall comply with all other requirements of law. 

(f) After notifying the chair of the public body, any person may make a video or audio recording of 
an open session of a meeting of a public body, or may transmit the meeting through any 
medium, subject to reasonable requirements of the chair as to the number, placement and 
operation of equipment used so as not to interfere with the conduct of the meeting. At the 
beginning of the meeting, the chair shall inform other attendees of any recordings. 

(g) No person shall address a meeting of a public body without permission of the chair, and all 
persons shall, at the request of the chair, be silent. No person shall disrupt the proceedings of a 
meeting of a public body. If, after clear warning from the chair, a person continues to disrupt 
the proceedings, the chair may order the person to withdraw from the meeting and if the 
person does not withdraw, the chair may authorize a constable or other officer to remove the 
person from the meeting. 

(h) Within 2 weeks of qualification for office, all persons serving on a public body shall certify, on 
a form prescribed by the attorney general, the receipt of a copy of the open meeting law, 
regulations promulgated pursuant to section 25 and a copy of the educational materials 
prepared by the attorney general explaining the open meeting law and its application 
pursuant to section 19. Unless otherwise directed or approved by the attorney general, the 



29 | P a g e  
 

appointing authority, city or town clerk or the executive director or other appropriate 
administrator of a state or regional body, or their designees, shall obtain such certification 
from each person upon entering service and shall retain it subject to the applicable records 
retention schedule where the body maintains its official records. The certification shall be 
evidence that the member of a public body has read and understands the requirements of the 
open meeting law and the consequences of violating it. 

 

Section 21.  Executive Sessions 
(a) A public body may meet in executive session only for the following purposes: 

1. To discuss the reputation, character, physical condition or mental health, rather than 
professional competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or dismissal of, 
or complaints or charges brought against, a public officer, employee, staff member or 
individual. The individual to be discussed in such executive session shall be notified in 
writing by the public body at least 48 hours prior to the proposed executive session; 
provided, however, that notification may be waived upon written agreement of the 
parties. A public body shall hold an open session if the individual involved requests that 
the session be open. If an executive session is held, such individual shall have the 
following rights: 

i. to be present at such executive session during deliberations which involve that 
individual; 

ii. to have counsel or a representative of his own choosing present and attending 
for the purpose of advising the individual and not for the purpose of active 
participation in the executive session; 

iii. to speak on his own behalf; and 
iv. to cause an independent record to be created of said executive session by 

audio-recording or transcription, at the individual’s expense. 
The rights of an individual set forth in this paragraph are in addition to the rights 

that he may have from any other source, including, but not limited to, rights under any 
laws or collective bargaining agreements and the exercise or non-exercise of the 
individual rights under this section shall not be construed as a waiver of any rights of 
the individual. 

2. To conduct strategy sessions in preparation for negotiations with nonunion 
personnel or to conduct collective bargaining sessions or contract negotiations 
with nonunion personnel; 

3. To discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining or litigation if an open meeting 
may have a detrimental effect on the bargaining or litigating position of the public 
body and the chair so declares; 

4. To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devices, or strategies with respect 
thereto; 

5. To investigate charges of criminal misconduct or to consider the filing of criminal 
complaints; 



30 | P a g e  
 

6. To consider the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property if the chair 
declares that an open meeting may have a detrimental effect on the negotiating 
position of the public body; 

7. To comply with, or act under the authority of, any general or special law or federal 
grant-in-aid requirements; 

8. To consider or interview applicants for employment or appointment by a preliminary 
screening committee if the chair declares that an open meeting will have a detrimental 
effect in obtaining qualified applicants; provided, however, that this clause shall not 
apply to any meeting, including meetings of a preliminary screening committee, to 
consider and interview applicants who have passed a prior preliminary screening; 

9. To meet or confer with a mediator, as defined in section 23C of chapter 233, with 
respect to any litigation or decision on any public business within its jurisdiction 
involving another party, group or entity, provided that: 

i. any decision to participate in mediation shall be made in an open session and 
the parties, issues involved and purpose of the mediation shall be disclosed; 
and 

ii. no action shall be taken by any public body with respect to those issues which 
are the subject of the mediation without deliberation and approval for such 
action at an open session; or 

10. To discuss trade secrets or confidential, competitively-sensitive or other proprietary 
information provided in the course of activities conducted by a governmental body as 
an energy supplier under a license granted by the department of public utilities 
pursuant to section 1F of chapter 164, in the course of activities conducted as a 
municipal aggregator under section 134 of said chapter 164 or in the course of 
activities conducted by a cooperative consisting of governmental entities organized 
pursuant to section 136 of said chapter 164, when such governmental body, municipal 
aggregator or cooperative determines that such disclosure will adversely affect its 
ability to conduct business in relation to other entities making, selling or distributing 
electric power and energy. 

(b) A public body may meet in closed session for 1 or more of the purposes enumerated 
in subsection (a) provided that: 

1. the body has first convened in an open session pursuant to section 21; 
2. a majority of members of the body have voted to go into executive session and the 

vote of each member is recorded by roll call and entered into the minutes; 
3. before the executive session, the chair shall state the purpose for the executive session, 

stating all subjects that may be revealed without compromising the purpose for which 
the executive session was called; 

4. the chair shall publicly announce whether the open session will reconvene at the 
conclusion of the executive session; and 

5. accurate records of the executive session shall be maintained pursuant to section 23. 
 
 



31 | P a g e  
 

Section 22.  Meeting Minutes; Records 
(a) A public body shall create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings, including 

executive sessions, setting forth the date, time and place, the members present or absent, 
a summary of the discussions on each subject, a list of documents and other exhibits used at 
the meeting, the decisions made and the actions taken at each meeting, including the 
record of all votes. 

(b) No vote taken at an open session shall be by secret ballot. Any vote taken at an executive 
session shall be recorded by roll call and entered into the minutes. 

(c) Minutes of all open sessions shall be created and approved in a timely manner. The minutes of 
an open session, if they exist and whether approved or in draft form, shall be made available 
upon request by any person within 10 days. 

(d) Documents and other exhibits, such as photographs, recordings or maps, used by the body at 
an open or executive session shall, along with the minutes, be part of the official record of the 
session. 

(e) The minutes of any open session, the notes, recordings or other materials used in the 
preparation of such minutes and all documents and exhibits used at the session, shall be 
public records in their entirety and not exempt from disclosure pursuant to any of the 
exemptions under clause Twenty-sixth of section 7 of chapter 4. Notwithstanding this 
paragraph, the following materials shall be exempt from disclosure to the public as personnel 
information: (1) materials used in a performance evaluation of an individual bearing on his 
professional competence, provided they were not created by the members of the body for 
the purposes of the evaluation; and (2) materials used in deliberations about employment or 
appointment of individuals, including applications and supporting materials; provided, 
however, that any resume submitted by an applicant shall not be exempt. 

(f) The minutes of any executive session, the notes, recordings or other materials used in the 
preparation of such minutes and all documents and exhibits used at the session, may be 
withheld from disclosure to the public in their entirety under subclause (a) of clause Twenty-
sixth of section 7 of chapter 4, as long as publication may defeat the lawful purposes of the 
executive session, but no longer; provided, however, that the executive session was held in 
compliance with section 21. 

When the purpose for which a valid executive session was held has been served, the 
minutes, preparatory materials and documents and exhibits of the session shall be disclosed 
unless the attorney- client privilege or 1 or more of the exemptions under said clause Twenty-
sixth of said section 7 of said chapter 4 apply to withhold these records, or any portion thereof, 
from disclosure. 

For purposes of this subsection, if an executive session is held pursuant to clause (2) or (3) 
of subsections (a) of section 21, then the minutes, preparatory materials and documents and 
exhibits used at the session may be withheld from disclosure to the public in their entirety, 
unless and until such time as a litigating, negotiating or bargaining position is no longer 
jeopardized by such disclosure, at which time they shall be disclosed unless the attorney-client 
privilege or 1 or more of the exemptions under said clause Twenty-sixth of said section 7 of 



32 | P a g e  
 

said chapter 4 apply to withhold these records, or any portion thereof, from disclosure. 
(g) (1) The public body, or its chair or designee, shall, at reasonable intervals, review the minutes 

of executive sessions to determine if the provisions of this subsection warrant continued non-
disclosure. Such determination shall be announced at the body’s next meeting and such 
announcement shall be included in the minutes of that meeting. 
2. Upon request by any person to inspect or copy the minutes of an executive session or any 

portion thereof, the body shall respond to the request within 10 days following receipt and 
shall release any such minutes not covered by an exemption under subsection (f); 
provided, however, that if the body has not performed a review pursuant to paragraph (1), 
the public body shall perform the review and release the non-exempt minutes, or any 
portion thereof, not later than the body’s next meeting or 30 days, whichever first occurs. 
A public body shall not assess a fee for the time spent in its review. 

Section 23. Enforcement of Open Meeting Law; Complaints; Hearings; Civil Actions 
(a) Subject to appropriation, the attorney general shall interpret and enforce the open meeting law. 
(b) At least 30 days prior to the filing of a complaint with the attorney general, the complainant 

shall file a written complaint with the public body, setting forth the circumstances which 
constitute the alleged violation and giving the body an opportunity to remedy the alleged 
violation; provided, however, that such complaint shall be filed within 30 days of the date of 
the alleged violation. The public body shall, within 14 business days of receipt of a complaint, 
send a copy of the complaint to the attorney general and notify the attorney general of any 
remedial action taken. Any remedial action taken by the public body in response to a 
complaint under this subsection shall not be admissible as evidence against the public body 
that a violation occurred in any later administrative or judicial proceeding relating to such 
alleged violation. The attorney general may authorize an extension of time to the public body 
for the purpose of taking remedial action upon the written request of the public body and a 
showing of good cause to grant the extension. 

(c) Upon the receipt of a complaint by any person, the attorney general shall determine, in a 
timely manner, whether there has been a violation of the open meeting law. The attorney 
general may, and before imposing any civil penalty on a public body shall, hold a hearing on 
any such complaint. Following a determination that a violation has occurred, the attorney 
general shall determine whether the public body, 1 or more of the members, or both, are 
responsible and whether the violation was intentional or unintentional. Upon the finding of a 
violation, the attorney general may issue an order to: 

1. compel immediate and future compliance with the open meeting law; 
2. compel attendance at a training session authorized by the attorney general; 
3. nullify in whole or in part any action taken at the meeting; 
4. impose a civil penalty upon the public body of not more than $1,000 for each 

intentional violation; 
5. reinstate an employee without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure or other benefits; 
6. compel that minutes, records or other materials be made public; or 
7. prescribe other appropriate action. 



33 | P a g e  
 

(d) A public body or any member of a body aggrieved by any order issued pursuant to this section 
may, notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, obtain judicial review of the 
order only through an action in superior court seeking relief in the nature of certiorari; 
provided, however, that notwithstanding section 4 of chapter 249, any such action shall be 
commenced in superior court within 21 days of receipt of the order. Any order issued under 
this section shall be stayed pending judicial review; provided, however, that if the order 
nullifies an action of the public body, the body shall not implement such action pending 
judicial review. 

(e) If any public body or member thereof shall fail to comply with the requirements set forth in any 
order issued by the attorney general, or shall fail to pay any civil penalty imposed within 21 
days of the date of issuance of such order or within 30 days following the decision of the 
superior court if judicial review of such order has been timely sought, the attorney general may 
file an action to compel compliance. Such action shall be filed in Suffolk superior court with 
respect to state public bodies and, with respect to all other public bodies, in the superior court 
in any county in which the public body acts or meets. If such body or member has not timely 
sought judicial review of the order, such order shall not be open to review in an action to 
compel compliance. 

(f) As an alternative to the procedure in subsection (b), the attorney general or 3 or more 
registered voters may initiate a civil action to enforce the open meeting law. 

Any action under this subsection shall be filed in Suffolk superior court with respect to 
state public bodies and, with respect to all other public bodies, in the superior court in any 
county in which the public body acts or meets. 

In any action filed pursuant to this subsection, in addition to all other remedies 
available to the superior court, in law or in equity, the court shall have all of the remedies set 
forth in subsection (c). 

In any action filed under this subsection, the order of notice on the complaint shall be 
returnable  not later than 10 days after the filing and the complaint shall be heard and 
determined on the return day or on such day as the court shall fix, having regard to the 
speediest possible determination of the cause consistent with the rights of the parties; 
provided, however, that orders may be issued at any time on or after the filing of the complaint 
without notice when such order is necessary to fulfill the purposes of the open meeting law. In 
the hearing of any action under this subsection, the burden shall be on the respondent to show 
by a preponderance of the evidence that the action complained of in such complaint was in 
accordance with and authorized by the open meeting law; provided, however, that no civil 
penalty may be imposed on an individual absent proof that the action complained of violated 
the open meeting law. 

(g) It shall be a defense to the imposition of a penalty that the public body, after full 
disclosure, acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body’s legal 
counsel. 

(h) Payment of civil penalties under this section paid to or received by the attorney general shall 
be paid into the general fund of the commonwealth. 



34 | P a g e  
 

Section 24. Investigation by Attorney General of Violations of Open Meeting Law 
(a) Whenever the attorney general has reasonable cause to believe that a person, including any 

public body and any other state, regional, county, municipal or other governmental official or 
entity, has violated the open meeting law, the attorney general may conduct an investigation 
to ascertain whether in fact such person has violated the open meeting law. Upon notification 
of an investigation, any person, public body or any other state, regional, county, municipal or 
other governmental official or entity who is the subject of an investigation, shall make all 
information necessary to conduct such investigation available to the attorney general. In the 
event that the person, public body or any other state, regional, county, municipal or other 
governmental official or entity being investigated does not voluntarily provide relevant 
information to the attorney general within 30 days of receiving notice of the investigation, the 
attorney general may: (1) take testimony under oath concerning such alleged violation of the 
open meeting law; (2) examine or cause to be examined any documentary material of 
whatever nature relevant to such alleged violation of the open meeting law; and (3) require 
attendance during such examination of documentary material of any person having knowledge 
of the documentary material and take testimony under oath or acknowledgment in respect of 
any such documentary material. Such testimony and examination shall take place in the county 
where such person resides or has a place of business or, if the parties consent or such person is 
a nonresident or has no place of business within the commonwealth, in Suffolk  county. 

(b) Notice of the time, place and cause of such taking of testimony, examination or attendance 
shall be given by the attorney general at least 10 days prior to the date of such taking of 
testimony or examination. 

(c) Service of any such notice may be made by: (1) delivering a duly-executed copy to the person 
to be served or to a partner or to any officer or agent authorized by appointment or by law to 
receive service of process on behalf of such person; (2) delivering a duly-executed copy to the 
principal place of business in the commonwealth of the person to be served; or (3) mailing by 
registered or certified mail a duly-executed copy addressed to the person to be served at the 
principal place of business in the commonwealth or, if said person has no place of business in 
the commonwealth, to his principal office or place of business. 

(d) Each such notice shall: (1) state the time and place for the taking of testimony or the 
examination and the name and address of each person to be examined, if known and, if the 
name is not known, a general description sufficient to identify him or the particular class or 
group to which he belongs; (2) state the statute and section thereof, the alleged violation of 
which is under investigation and the general subject matter of the investigation; (3) describe 
the class or classes of documentary material to be produced thereunder with reasonable 
specificity, so as fairly to indicate the material demanded; (4) prescribe a return date within 
which the documentary material is to be produced; and (5) identify the members of the 
attorney general’s staff to whom such documentary material is to be made available for 
inspection and copying. 

 
 



35 | P a g e  
 

(e) No such notice shall contain any requirement which would be unreasonable or improper if 
contained in a subpoena duces tecum issued by a court of the commonwealth or require the 
disclosure of any documentary material which would be privileged, or which for any other 
reason would not be required by a subpoena duces tecum issued by a court of the 
commonwealth. 

(f) Any documentary material or other information produced by any person pursuant to this 
section shall not, unless otherwise ordered by a court of the commonwealth for good cause 
shown, be disclosed to any person other than the authorized agent or representative of the 
attorney general, unless with the consent of the person producing the same; provided, 
however, that such material or information may be disclosed by the attorney general in court 
pleadings or other papers filed in court. 

(g) At any time prior to the date specified in the notice, or within 21 days after the notice has 
been served, whichever period is shorter, the court may, upon motion for good cause shown, 
extend such reporting date or modify or set aside such demand or grant a protective order in 
accordance with the standards set forth in Rule 26(c) of the Massachusetts Rules of Civil 
Procedure. The motion may be filed in the superior court of the county in which the person 
served resides or has his usual place of business or in Suffolk county. This section shall not be 
applicable to any criminal proceeding nor shall information obtained under the authority of 
this section be admissible in evidence in any criminal prosecution for substantially identical 
transactions. 

Section 25. Regulations; Letter Rulings; Advisory Opinions 
(a) The attorney general shall have the authority to promulgate rules and regulations to carry out 

enforcement of the open meeting law. 
(b) The attorney general shall have the authority to interpret the open meeting law and to issue 

written letter rulings or advisory opinions according to rules established under this section. 
 
 

  



36 | P a g e  
 

940 CMR 29.00:  Open Meeting Law Regulations 
 

The official regulations are published in the Massachusetts Register. For more information, contact the 
Secretary of the Commonwealth’s State Publications and Regulations Division. 

 
Section 
29.01:   Purpose, Scope and Other General Provisions 
29.02:   Definitions 
29.03:   Notice Posting Requirements 
29.04:   Certification 
29.05:   Complaints 
29.06:   Investigation 
29.07:   Resolution 
29.08:   Advisory Opinions 
29.09:   Other Enforcement Actions 
29.10:   Remote Participation 
29.11:   Meeting Minutes 
 

29.01:   Purpose, Scope and Other General Provisions 
 

(1)   Purpose.  The purpose of 940 CMR 29.00 is to interpret, enforce and effectuate the purposes of the 
Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25. 

 
(2)   Severability.  If any provision of 940 CMR 29.00 or the application of such provision to any person, 
public body, or circumstances shall be held invalid, the validity of the remainder of 940 CMR 29.00 and 
the applicability of such provision to other persons, public bodies, or circumstances shall not be affected 
thereby. 

 
(3)   Mailing.  All complaints, notices (except meeting notices) and other materials that must be sent to 
another party shall be sent by one of the following means: first class mail, email, hand delivery, or by any 
other means at least as expeditious as first class mail. 

 
29.02:   Definitions 

 
As used in 940 CMR 29.00, the following terms shall, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, have 
the following meanings: 
 
County Public Body.  A public body created by county government with jurisdiction that comprises a single 
county. 
 
District Public Body.  A public body with jurisdiction that extends to two or more municipalities.  
 
Emergency.  A sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of circumstances demanding immediate 
action.  



37 | P a g e  
 

Intentional Violation.  An act or omission by a public body or a member thereof, in knowing violation of 
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25.  Evidence of an intentional violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 
shall include, but not be limited to, the public body or public body member that: 

(a)   acted with specific intent to violate the law; 
(b)   acted with deliberate ignorance of the law’s requirements; or 
(c)   was previously informed by receipt of a decision from a court of competent jurisdiction or advised 

by the Attorney General, pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07 or 940 CMR 29.08, that the conduct violates M.G.L. 
c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25.  Where a public body or public body member has made a good faith attempt at 
compliance with the law, but was reasonably mistaken about its requirements, such conduct will not be 
considered an intentional violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25. 

 
Person.  All individuals and entities, including governmental officials and employees.  Person does not 
include public bodies.  

 
Post Notice.  To place a written announcement of a meeting on a bulletin board, electronic display, 
website, or in a loose-leaf binder in a manner conspicuously visible to the public, including persons with 
disabilities, at all hours, in accordance with 940 CMR 29.03. 

 
Public Body.  Has the identical meaning as set forth in M.G.L. c. 30A, § 18, that is, a multiple-member 
board, commission, committee or subcommittee within the executive or legislative branch or within any 
county, district, city, region or town, however created, elected, appointed or otherwise constituted, 
established to serve a public purpose; provided, however, that the governing board of a local housing, 
redevelopment or other similar authority shall be deemed a local public body; provided, further, that the 
governing board or body of any other authority established by the general court to serve a public purpose 
in the commonwealth or any part thereof shall be deemed a state public body; provided, further, that 
Public Body shall not include the general court or the committees or recess commissions thereof, bodies 
of the judicial branch or bodies appointed by a constitutional officer solely for the purpose of advising a 
constitutional officer and shall not include the board of bank incorporation or the policyholders protective 
board; and provided further, that a subcommittee shall include any multiple-member body created to 
advise or make recommendations to a public body.  

 
Qualification for Office.  The election or appointment of a person to a public body and the taking of the 
oath of office, where required, and shall include qualification for a second or any subsequent term of 
office.  Where no term of office for a member of a public body is specified, the member shall be deemed 
to be qualified for office on a biennial basis following appointment or election to office. 

 
Regional Public Body.  A public body with jurisdiction that extends to two or more municipalities. 

 
Remote Participation.  Participation by a member of a public body during a meeting of that public body 
where the member is not physically present at the meeting location.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



38 | P a g e  
 

29.03:   Notice Posting Requirements 
 

(1)   Requirements Applicable to All Public Bodies.  
(a) Except in an emergency, public bodies shall file meeting notices sufficiently in advance of a 

public meeting to permit posting of the notice at least 48 hours in advance of the public 
meeting, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, 
§ 20.  In an emergency, the notice shall be posted as soon as reasonably possible prior to such 
meeting.  

(b) Meeting notices shall be printed or displayed in a legible, easily understandable format and 
shall contain the date, time and place of such meeting, and a listing of topics that the chair 
reasonably anticipates will be discussed at the meeting.  The list of topics shall have sufficient 
specificity to reasonably advise the public of the issues to be discussed at the meeting. 

(c) Notices posted under an alternative posting method authorized by 940 CMR 29.03(2) through 
(5) shall include the same content as required by 940 CMR 29.03(1)(b).  If such an alternative 
posting method is adopted, the municipal clerk, in the case of a municipality, or the body, in 
all other cases, shall file with the Attorney General written notice of adoption of the 
alternative method, including the website address where applicable, and any change thereto, 
and the most current notice posting method on file with the Attorney General shall be 
consistently used. 

(d) The date and time that a meeting notice is posted shall be conspicuously recorded thereon or 
therewith.  If an amendment occurs within 48 hours of a meeting, not including Saturdays, 
Sundays, and legal holidays, then the date and time that the meeting notice is amended shall 
also be conspicuously recorded thereon or therewith.  

 
(2)   Requirements Specific to Local Public Bodies. 

(a) The official method of posting notice shall be by filing with the municipal clerk, or other person 
designated by agreement with the municipal clerk, who shall post notice of the meeting in a 
manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in, on, or near the municipal building 
in which the clerk’s office is located.  

(b) Alternatively, the municipality may adopt the municipal website as the official method of 
notice posting. 

1. The Chief Executive Officer of the municipality, as defined in M.G.L. c. 4, § 7, must 
authorize or, by a simple majority, vote to adopt the municipal website as the official 
method of posting notice.  Any municipality that has adopted its website as the official 
method of posting notice by another method as of October 6, 2017 will have satisfied 
the adoption requirement. 

2. If adopted, a description of the website as the notice posting method, including 
directions on how to locate notices on the website, shall be posted in a manner 
conspicuously visible to the public at all hours on or adjacent to the main and 
handicapped accessible entrances to the municipal building in which the clerk’s office 
is located.   

3. Once adopted as the official method of notice posting, the website shall host the 
official legal notice for meetings of all public bodies within the municipality.  

4. Notices must continue to be filed with the municipal clerk, or any other person 
designated by agreement with the municipal clerk. 



39 | P a g e  
 

(c) A municipality may have only one official notice posting method for the purpose of M.G.L. c. 
30A, §§ 18 through 25, either 940 CMR 29.03(2)(a) or (b).  However, nothing precludes a 
municipality from choosing to post additional notices via other methods, including a 
newspaper.  Such additional notice will not be the official notice for the purposes of M.G.L. c. 
30A, §§ 18 through 25.  

(d) Copies of notices shall also be accessible to the public in the municipal clerk’s office during 
the clerk’s business hours. 

 
(3)   Requirements Specific to Regional or District Public Bodies.  

(a) Notice shall be filed and posted in each city and town within the region or district in the 
manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town.  

(b) As an alternative method of notice, a regional or district public body may, by majority vote, 
adopt the regional or district public body’s website as its official notice posting method. A 
copy of each meeting notice shall be kept by the chair of the public body or the chair’s 
designee in accordance with the applicable records retention schedules.  The public body shall 
file and post notice of the website address, as well as directions on how to locate notices on 
the website, in each city and town within the region or district in the manner prescribed for 
local public bodies in that city or town. 

 
(4)   Requirements Specific to Regional School Districts.  

(a) The secretary of the regional school district committee shall be considered to be its clerk.  The 
clerk of the regional school district committee shall file notice with the municipal clerk of each 
city and town within such district and each such municipal clerk shall post the notice in the 
manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town.  

(b) As an alternative method of notice, a regional school district committee may, by majority 
vote, adopt the regional school district’s website as its official notice posting method.  A copy 
of each meeting notice shall be kept by the secretary of the regional school district committee 
or the secretary’s designee in accordance with the applicable records retention schedules. 
The regional school district committee shall file and post notice of the website address, as 
well as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in each city and town within the 
region or district in the manner prescribed for local public bodies in that city or town. 

 
(5)   Requirements Specific to County Public Bodies. 

(a) Notice shall be filed and posted in the office of the county commissioners and a copy of the 
notice shall be publicly posted in a manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in 
such place or places as the county commissioners shall designate for this purpose.  

(b) As an alternative method of notice, a county public body may, by majority vote, adopt the 
county public body’s website as its official notice posting method.  A copy of the notice shall 
be kept by the chair of the county public body or the chair’s designee in accordance with the 
applicable records retention schedules.  The county public body shall file and post notice of 
the website address, as well as directions on how to locate notices on the website, in the 
office of the county commissioners and a copy of the notice shall be publicly posted in a 
manner conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in such place or places as the county 
commissioners shall designate for this purpose. 

 



40 | P a g e  
 

(6)   Requirements Specific to State Public Bodies.  Notice shall be posted on a website. A copy of each 
notice shall also be sent by first class or electronic mail to the Secretary of the Commonwealth’s 
Regulations Division.  The chair of each state public body shall notify the Attorney General in writing of its 
webpage for listing meeting notices and any change to the webpage location.  The public body shall 
consistently use the most current website location on file with the Attorney General.  A copy of the notice 
shall be kept by the chair of the state public body or the chair’s designee in accordance with the applicable 
records retention schedules. 

 
(7)   Websites.  Where a public body adopts a website as its method of noticing meetings, it must make 
every effort to ensure that the website is accessible to the public at all hours.  If a website becomes 
inaccessible to members of the public within 48 hours of a meeting, not including Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays, the municipal clerk or other individual responsible for posting notice to the website must 
restore the website to accessibility within six hours of the time, during regular business hours, when such 
individual discovers that the website has become inaccessible.  In the event that the website is not 
restored to accessibility within six business hours of the website’s deficiency being discovered, the public 
body must re-post notice of its meeting for another date and time in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 
20(b). 

 
29.04:   Certification 

 
(1)   For local public bodies, the municipal clerk, and for all other public bodies, the appointing authority, 
executive director, or other appropriate administrator or their designees, shall, upon a public body 
member’s qualification for office, either deliver to the public body member, or require the public body 
member to obtain from the Attorney General’s website, the following educational materials: 

(a) The Attorney General’s Open Meeting Law Guide, which will include an explanation of the 
requirements of the Open Meeting Law; the Open Meeting Law, M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 
25; and 940 CMR 29.00.  

(b) A copy of each Open Meeting Law determination issued to that public body by the Attorney 
General within the last five years in which the Attorney General found a violation of M.G.L. c. 
30A, §§ 18 through 25.  Open Meeting Law determinations are available at the Attorney 
General’s website.    

 
(2)   Educational materials may be delivered to public body members by paper copy or in digital form.  

 
(3)   Within two weeks after receipt of the educational materials, the public body member shall certify, on 
the form prescribed by the Attorney General, receipt of the educational materials.  The municipal clerk, 
appointing authority, executive director or other appropriate administrator, or their designees, shall 
maintain the signed certification for each such person, indicating the date the person received the 
materials. 

 
(4)   An individual serving on multiple public bodies must sign a certification for each public body on which 
he or she serves.  A public body member does not need to sign a separate certification when joining a 
subcommittee of the public body. 

 
(5)   A public body member must sign a new certification upon reelection or reappointment to the public 
body. 

 



41 | P a g e  
 

29.05:   Complaints 
 

(1)   All complaints shall be in writing, using the form approved by the Attorney General and available on 
the Attorney General’s website.  A public body need not, and the Attorney General will not, investigate or 
address anonymous complaints.  A public body need not address a complaint that is not signed by the 
complainant.  A public body need not address a complaint that is not filed using the Attorney General’s 
complaint form. 

 
(2)   Public bodies, or the municipal clerk in the case of a local public body, should provide any person, on 
request, with an Open Meeting Law Complaint Form.  If a paper copy is unavailable, then the public body 
should direct the requesting party to the Attorney General’s website, where an electronic copy of the 
form will be available for downloading and printing.  

 
(3)   For local public bodies, the complainant shall file the complaint with the chair of the public body, who 
shall disseminate copies of the complaint to the members of the public body.  The complainant shall also 
file a copy of the complaint with the municipal clerk, who shall keep such filings in an orderly fashion for 
public review on request during regular business hours. For all other public bodies, the complainant shall 
file the complaint with the chair of the relevant public body, or if there is no chair, then with the public 
body. 

 
(4)   The complaint shall be filed within 30 days of the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 
or, if the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 could not reasonably have been known at 
the time it occurred, then within 30 days of the date it should reasonably have been discovered.  

 
(5)   Within 14 business days after receiving the complaint, unless an extension has been granted by the 
Attorney General as provided in 940 CMR 29.05(5)(b), the public body shall meet to review the complaint’s 
allegations; take remedial action, if appropriate; and send to the complainant a response and a description 
of any remedial action taken.  The public body shall simultaneously notify the Attorney General that it has 
sent such materials to the complainant and shall provide the Attorney General with a copy of the 
complaint, the response, and a description of any remedial action taken. 

(a)  Any remedial action taken by the public body in response to a complaint under 940 CMR 
29.05(5) shall not be admissible as evidence that a violation occurred in any later 
administrative or judicial proceeding against the public body relating to the alleged violation.  

(b) If the public body requires additional time to resolve the complaint, it may obtain an extension 
from the Attorney General by submitting a written request within 14 business days after 
receiving the complaint.  A request may be submitted by the chair, the public body’s attorney, 
or any person designated by the public body or the chair.  The Attorney General will grant an 
extension if the request demonstrates good cause.  Good cause will generally be found if, for 
example, the public body cannot meet within the 14 business day period to consider proposed 
remedial action.  The Attorney General shall notify the complainant of any extension and the 
reason for it.  

 
(6)   If the public body needs additional information to resolve the complaint, then the chair may request 
it from the complainant within seven business days of receiving the complaint.  The complainant shall 
respond within ten business days after receiving the request.  The public body will then have an additional 
ten business days after receiving the complainant’s response to review the complaint and take any 
remedial action pursuant to 940 CMR 29.05(5).  



42 | P a g e  
 

 
(7)   If at least 30 days have passed after the complaint was filed with the public body, and if the 
complainant is unsatisfied with the public body’s resolution of the complaint, the complainant may file a 
complaint with the Attorney General.  When filing a complaint with the Attorney General, the complainant 
shall include a copy of the original complaint along with any other materials the complainant believes are 
relevant.  The Attorney General shall decline to investigate complaints filed with the Attorney General 
more than 90 days after the alleged violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, or if the alleged violation 
of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, could not reasonably have been known at the time it occurred, then 
within 90 days of the date it should reasonably have been discovered.  However, this time may be 
extended if the Attorney General grants an extension to the public body to respond to a complaint or if 
the complainant demonstrates good cause for the delay in filing with the Attorney General.  

 
(8)   The Attorney General shall acknowledge receipt of all complaints and will resolve them within a 
reasonable period of time, generally 90 days. 

 
(9)   Mediation to Resolve a Complaint. 

(a) If a complainant files five complaints alleging violations of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, 
with the same public body or within the same municipality within 12 months, upon the fifth 
or subsequent complaint to that public body or a public body within that municipality within 
the 12-month period, the public body may request mediation with the complainant, at the 
public body’s expense, to resolve the complaint.  A mediator is defined by M.G.L. c. 233, § 
23C, and will be selected by the Attorney General.  

(b) A public body must request mediation prior to, or with, its response to the complaint. If the 
mediation does not produce an agreement, the public body will have ten business days from 
the last joint meeting with the mediator to respond to the complaint. 

(c) A public body may participate in mediation in open session, in executive session through 
M.G.L. c. 30A, § 21(a)(9), or by designating a representative to participate on behalf of the 
public body. 

(d) If the complainant declines to participate in mediation after a public body’s request in 
accordance with 940 CMR 29.05(9)(a), the Attorney General may decline to review the 
complaint if it is thereafter filed with the Attorney General. 

(e) If the mediation does not resolve the complaint to the satisfaction of both parties, then the 
complainant may file a copy of his or her complaint with the Attorney General and request 
the Attorney General’s review. The complaint must be filed with the Attorney General within 
30 days of the last joint meeting with the mediator.  

(f) Any written agreement reached in mediation shall become a public record in its entirety and 
must be publicly disclosed at the next meeting of the public body following execution of the 
agreement.  

(g) Nothing in 940 CMR 29.05(9) shall prevent a complainant from filing subsequent complaints, 
however public bodies may continue to request mediation in an effort to resolve complaints 
in accordance with 940 CMR 29.05(9)(a). 

(h) Nothing in 940 CMR 29.05(9) shall prevent a public body or complainant from seeking 
mediation to resolve any complaint.  However, only mediation requests that follow the 
requirements of 940 CMR 29.05(9)(a) will trigger the application of 940 CMR 29.05(9)(d). 

 
 



43 | P a g e  
 

29.06:   Investigation 
 

Following a timely complaint filed pursuant to 940 CMR 29.05, where the Attorney General has reasonable 
cause to believe that a violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 has occurred, then the Attorney 
General may conduct an investigation.  

 
(1)   The Attorney General shall notify the public body or person that is the subject of a complaint of the 
existence of the investigation within a reasonable period of time.  The Attorney General shall also notify 
the public body or person of the nature of the alleged violation.  

 
(2)   Upon notice of the investigation, the subject of the investigation shall provide the Attorney General 
with all information relevant to the investigation.  The subject may also submit a memorandum or other 
writing to the Attorney General addressing the allegations being investigated.  

If the subject of the investigation fails to voluntarily provide the necessary or relevant information 
within 30 days of receiving notice of the investigation, the Attorney General may issue one or more civil 
investigative demands to obtain the information in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 24(a), to:  

(a) Take testimony under oath;  
(b) Examine or cause to be examined any documentary material; or  
(c) Require attendance during such examination of documentary material by any person having 

knowledge of the documentary material and take testimony under oath or acknowledgment 
in respect of any such documentary material.  

Any documentary material or other information produced by any person pursuant to 940 CMR 29.06 
shall not, unless otherwise ordered by a court of the Commonwealth for good cause shown, be disclosed 
without that person’s consent by the Attorney General to any person other than the Attorney General’s 
authorized agent or representative.  However, the Attorney General may disclose the material in court 
pleadings or other papers filed in court; or, to the extent necessary, in an administrative hearing or in a 
written determination to resolve the investigation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07. 

 
29.07:   Resolution 

 
(1)   No Violation.  If the Attorney General determines after investigation that M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 
25 has not been violated, the Attorney General shall issue a written determination to the subject of the 
complaint and copy any complainant.  

 
(2)   Violation Resolved Without Hearing.  If the Attorney General determines after investigation that 
M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 has been violated, the Attorney General may resolve the investigation 
without a hearing.  The Attorney General shall determine whether the relevant public body, one or more 
of its members, or both, were responsible.  The Attorney General will notify in writing any complainant of 
the investigation’s resolution.  Upon finding a violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, the Attorney 
General may take one of the following actions:  

(a) Informal Action.  The Attorney General may resolve the investigation with a letter or other 
appropriate form of written communication that explains the violation and clarifies the 
subject’s obligations under M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25, providing the subject with a 
reasonable period of time to comply with any outstanding obligations.  

(b) Formal Order.  The Attorney General may resolve the investigation with a formal order. The 
order may require:  

1. immediate and future compliance with M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25; 



44 | P a g e  
 

2. attendance at a training session authorized by the Attorney General;  
3. nullification of any action taken at the relevant meeting, in whole or in part; 
4. that minutes, records or other materials be made public;   
5. that an employee be reinstated without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure or 

other benefits; or 
6. other appropriate action.  

(c) Orders shall be available on the Attorney General’s website.  
 

(3)   Violation Resolved After Hearing.  The Attorney General may conduct a hearing where the Attorney 
General deems appropriate.  The hearing shall be conducted pursuant to 801 CMR 1.00:  Formal Rules, as 
modified by any regulations issued by the Attorney General.  At the conclusion of the hearing, the Attorney 
General shall determine whether a violation of M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 occurred, and whether 
the public body, one or more of its members, or both, were responsible.  The Attorney General will notify 
in writing any complainant of the investigation’s resolution.  Upon a finding that a violation occurred, the 
Attorney General may order: 

(a) immediate and future compliance with M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25;  
(b) attendance at a training session authorized by the Attorney General;  
(c) nullification of any action taken at the relevant meeting, in whole or in part;  
(d) imposition of a fine upon the public body of not more than $1,000 for each intentional 

violation; however, a fine will not be imposed where a public body or public body member 
acted in good faith compliance with the advice of the public body’s legal counsel, in 
accordance with M.G.L. 30A, § 23(g); 

(e) that an employee be reinstated without loss of compensation, seniority, tenure or other 
benefits;  

(f) that minutes, records or other materials be made public; or  
(g) other appropriate action.  
 
Orders issued following a hearing shall be available on the Attorney General’s website.  

 
(4)   A public body, subject to an order of the Attorney General following a written determination issued 
pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07, shall notify the Attorney General in writing of its compliance with the order 
within 30 days of receipt of the order, unless otherwise indicated by the order itself.  A public body need 
not notify the Attorney General of its compliance with an order requiring immediate and future 
compliance pursuant to 940 CMR 29.07(2)(b)1. or 940 CMR 29.07(3)(a). 
 
(5)   A public body or any member of a body aggrieved by any order issued by the Attorney General under 
940 CMR 29.07 may obtain judicial review of the order through an action in Superior Court seeking relief 
in the nature of certiorari.  Any such action must be commenced in Superior Court within 21 days of receipt 
of the order.  

 
29.08:   Advisory Opinions 
 
The Attorney General will generally not issue advisory opinions.  However, the Attorney General may issue 
written guidance to address common requests for interpretation.  Such written guidance will appear on 
the Attorney General’s website. 
 



45 | P a g e  
 

29.09:   Other Enforcement Actions 
 
Nothing in 940 CMR 29.06 or 29.07 shall limit the Attorney General’s authority to file a civil action to 
enforce M.G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18 through 25 pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A, § 23(f).  

 
29.10:   Remote Participation 

 
(1)   Preamble.  Remote participation may be permitted subject to the following procedures and 
restrictions.  However, the Attorney General strongly encourages members of public bodies to physically 
attend meetings whenever possible.  By promulgating 940 CMR 29.10, the Attorney General hopes to 
promote greater participation in government.  Members of public bodies have a responsibility to ensure 
that remote participation in meetings is not used in a way that would defeat the purposes of M.G.L. c. 
30A, §§ 18 through 25, namely promoting transparency with regard to deliberations and decisions on 
which public policy is based.  

 
(2)   Adoption of Remote Participation.  Remote participation in meetings of public bodies is not permitted 
unless the practice has been adopted as follows:  

(a) Local Public Bodies.  The Chief Executive Officer, as defined in M.G.L. c. 4, § 7, must authorize 
or, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the 
requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that authorization or vote applying to all subsequent 
meetings of all local public bodies in that municipality. 

(b) Regional or District Public Bodies.  The regional or district public body must, by a simple 
majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 
29.10, with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of that public body and its 
committees.  

(c) Regional School Districts.  The regional school district committee must, by a simple majority, 
vote to allow remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, 
with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of that public body and its committees.  

(d) County Public Bodies.  The county commissioners must, by a simple majority, vote to allow 
remote participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote 
applying to all subsequent meetings of all county public bodies in that county.  

(e) State Public Bodies.  The state public body must, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote 
participation in accordance with the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote applying 
to all subsequent meetings of that public body and its committees.  

(f) Retirement Boards.  A retirement board created pursuant to M.G.L. c. 32, § 20 or M.G.L. c. 
34B, § 19 must, by a simple majority, vote to allow remote participation in accordance with 
the requirements of 940 CMR 29.10, with that vote applying to all subsequent meetings of 
that public body and its committees.  

(g) Local Commissions on Disability.  In accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 20(e), a local commission 
on disability may, by majority vote of the commissioners at a regular meeting, authorize 
remote participation applicable to a specific meeting or generally to all of the commission’s 
meetings.  If a local commission on disability is authorized to utilize remote participation, a 
physical quorum of that commission’s members shall not be required to be present at the 
meeting location; provided, however, that the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person 
authorized to chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the meeting location.  The 
commission shall comply with all other requirements of law. 



46 | P a g e  
 

(3)   Revocation of Remote Participation.  Any person or entity with the authority to adopt remote 
participation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.10(2) may revoke that adoption in the same manner.  

 
(4)   Minimum Requirements for Remote Participation.  

(a) Members of a public body who participate remotely and all persons present at the meeting 
location shall be clearly audible to each other as required by M.G.L. c. 30A, § 20(d);  

(b) A quorum of the body, including the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person authorized to 
chair the meeting, shall be physically present at the meeting location as required by M.G.L. c. 
30A, § 20(d);  

(c) Members of public bodies who participate remotely may vote and shall not be deemed absent 
for the purposes of M.G.L. c. 39, § 23D.  

 
(5)   Permissible Reason for Remote Participation.  If remote participation has been adopted in accordance 
with 940 CMR 29.10(2), a member of a public body shall be permitted to participate remotely in a meeting 
in accordance with the procedures described in 940 CMR 29.10(7) only if physical attendance would be 
unreasonably difficult.  

 
(6)   Technology. 

(a) The following media are acceptable methods for remote participation.  Remote participation 
by any other means is not permitted.  Accommodations shall be made for any public body 
member who requires TTY service, video relay service, or other form of adaptive 
telecommunications. 

1. telephone, internet, or satellite enabled audio or video conferencing;  
2. any other technology that enables the remote participant and all persons present at 

the meeting location to be clearly audible to one another.  
(b) When video technology is in use, the remote participant shall be clearly visible to all persons 

present in the meeting location.  
(c) The public body shall determine which of the acceptable methods may be used by its 

members. 
(d) The chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person chairing the meeting, may decide how to 

address technical difficulties that arise as a result of utilizing remote participation, but is 
encouraged wherever possible to suspend discussion while reasonable efforts are made to 
correct any problem that interferes with a remote participant’s ability to hear or be heard 
clearly by all persons present at the meeting location.  If technical difficulties result in a 
remote participant being disconnected from the meeting, that fact and the time at which the 
disconnection occurred shall be noted in the meeting minutes.  

(e) The amount and source of payment for any costs associated with remote participation shall 
be determined by the applicable adopting entity identified in 940 CMR 29.10(2).  

 
(7)   Procedures for Remote Participation. 

(a) Any member of a public body who wishes to participate remotely shall, as soon as reasonably 
possible prior to a meeting, notify the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person chairing the 
meeting, of his or her desire to do so and the reason for and facts supporting his or her 
request.  

(b) At the start of the meeting, the chair shall announce the name of any member who will be 
participating remotely.  This information shall also be recorded in the meeting minutes.  



47 | P a g e  
 

(c) All votes taken during any meeting in which a member participates remotely shall be by roll 
call vote.  

(d) A member participating remotely may participate in an executive session, but shall state at 
the start of any such session that no other person is present and/or able to hear the discussion 
at the remote location, unless presence of that person is approved by a simple majority vote 
of the public body.  

(e) When feasible, the chair or, in the chair’s absence, the person chairing the meeting, shall 
distribute to remote participants in advance of the meeting, copies of any documents or 
exhibits that he or she reasonably anticipates will be used during the meeting.  If used during 
the meeting, such documents shall be part of the official record of the meeting and shall be 
listed in the meeting minutes and retained in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22.  

 
(8)   Further Restriction by Adopting Authority.  940 CMR 29.10 does not prohibit any person or entity 
with the authority to adopt remote participation pursuant to 940 CMR 29.10(2) from enacting policies, 
laws, rules or regulations that prohibit or further restrict the use of remote participation by public bodies 
within that person or entity’s jurisdiction, provided those policies, laws, rules or regulations do not violate 
state or federal law.  

 
(9)   Remedy for Violation.  If the Attorney General determines after investigation that 940 CMR 29.10 has 
been violated, the Attorney General may resolve the investigation by ordering the public body to 
temporarily or permanently discontinue its use of remote participation.  
 
29.11:   Meeting Minutes 
 
(1)   A public body shall create and maintain accurate minutes of all meetings including executive sessions, 
setting forth the date, time and place, the members present or absent, a summary of the discussions on 
each subject, a list of documents and other exhibits used at the meeting, the decisions made and the 
actions taken at each meeting, including the record of all votes in accordance with M.G.L. c. 30A, § 22(a). 
 
(2)   Minutes of all open and executive sessions shall be created and approved in a timely manner.  A 
“timely manner” will generally be considered to be within the next three public body meetings or within 
30 days, whichever is later, unless the public body can show good cause for further delay.  The Attorney 
General encourages public bodies to approve minutes at the next meeting whenever possible.  
 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

940 CMR 29.00:  M.G.L. c. 30A, § 25(a) and (b). 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



48 | P a g e  
 

Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials 
 

I, ____________________________________, who qualified as a member of the 
                                 (Name) 
 

______________________________________, on ________________, certify pursuant 
                            (Public Body)                                            (Date) 
 

to G.L. c. 30A, § 20(h) and 940 CMR 29.04, that I have received and reviewed copies of the following 

Open Meeting Law materials: 

1) the Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25; 
 

2) the Attorney General’s Regulations, 940 CMR 29.00–29.11; 
 

3) the Attorney General’s Open Meeting Law Guide, explaining the Open Meeting Law and its 
application; and 
 

4) if applicable, a copy of each Open Meeting Law determination issued by the Attorney 
General within the last five (5) years to the public body of which I am a member and in 
which the Attorney General found a violation of the Open Meeting Law. 

 
I have read and understand the requirements of the Open Meeting Law and the consequences of 

violating it.  I further understand that the materials I have received may be revised or updated from time 

to time, and that I have a continuing obligation to implement any changes to the Open Meeting Law 

during my term of office. 

 
      __________________________________ 
              (Name) 
 
             

      ___________________________________ 
             (Name of Public Body) 
 
       
      ___________________________________ 
             (Date) 

 
Pursuant to G.L. c. 30A, § 20(h), an executed copy of this certificate shall be retained, according to the relevant 
records retention schedule, by the appointing authority, city or town clerk, or the executive director or other 
appropriate administrator of a state or regional body, or their designee. 









Open Meeting Law and the 
Conduct of Public Meetings

Town of Pembroke
October 25, 2016

Presented by Brian W. Riley, Esq.



Disclaimer

This information is provided as a service by 
KP Law, P.C. This information is general in 
nature and does not, and is not intended to, 
constitute legal advice as to any specific 
issue. You are advised not to take, or to 
refrain from taking, any action based on this 
information without consulting legal counsel 
about the particular facts of the specific 
issue.



Introduction

Recent developments and agency interpretations 
under the Open Meeting Law (OML) and Public 
Records Law (PRL) are changing the way public 
bodies notice and conduct public meetings.

Intense scrutiny from the public and media requires 
us to focus on the details.

This scrutiny can result in critiques not only focused 
upon the public body’s compliance with the OML, for 
instance, but also the general conduct of the 
meeting.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Open Meeting Law ("OML")

MA OML (G.L. c.30A, §§18-25)
Under the revised OML, there is an administrative 
complaint process for alleged Open Meeting Law 
violations, under the purview of the Attorney 
General’s Office (AG).

Administrative complaints have been filed  
covering the content of the meeting notice (i.e. 
agenda), the contents of meeting minutes, the 
timing of minutes approval and release, and 
production of meeting minutes upon request. 

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Legal Requirements

Meeting Notices/Agendas

Properly posting a meeting:  

1) was it posted timely? Proof? 

2) was it posted in the correct location(s)?

3) did the notice contain the requisite detail? 

4) have executive sessions been properly cited?

Minutes 

Must be accurate, and timely prepared and 
approved – verbatim transcripts are not 
required.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Before the Meeting

The meeting notice must be posted at least 48 hours prior 
to the meeting, not counting Sat., Sun., or legal holidays.

The notice must include "the date, time and place of such 
meeting and a listing of topics that the chair reasonably 
anticipates will be discussed at the meeting." G.L. c. 30A,     
§ 20(b). The list of topics shall have "sufficient specificity to 
reasonably advise the public of the issues to be discussed at 
the meeting." 940 CMR 29.03(l)(b). 

Per the Attorney General’s Office, a topic will generally be 
considered to include sufficient specificity when a 
reasonable member of the public could read the topic 
and understand the anticipated nature of the public 
body's discussion. 

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Meeting Notice - considerations

Manner:  Must be filed with Town Clerk and posted in manner 
conspicuously visible to the public at all hours in or on 
municipal building housing clerk’s office; AG’s regulations now 
allow posting on website or in other building; AG must be 
notified of second posting location.

Write out terms that may not be familiar to the general public 
(i.e. replacing "HUD CPD HOME" with "Department of 
Housing and Urban Development Community Planning and 
Development HOME Investment Partnerships Program")

Executive Sessions – cite to specific statutory reference(s), 
and/or quote text of executive session purpose.  More 
content may be necessary! Shorthand references are to be 
avoided (i.e., “personnel”, “contract negotiations,” “real 
estate,” etc.)

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Meeting Notice - considerations

For a Monday meeting, notice must be posted on 
Thursday.

If Monday is a holiday, a Tuesday meeting must also be 
posted on Thursday.

Clerk should time stamp notice to ensure accurate record 
exists of filing .

Notice must be timely posted in both locations.

A meeting may not be continued from one night to the 
next unless the meeting is properly posted under the 
OML 48 hours in advance.

The notice required under the OML does not substitute 
for or otherwise supersede notice requirements under 
other applicable laws.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



"Old" vs. "New" Business

Regularly occurring items need more detail 
than simply using generic placeholders

“While the use of such headings alone may be insufficient to give 
the public a true idea of what will be discussed, see OML 2013-168, 
here the Board used the phrases as headings under which more 
specific descriptions were listed. This practice does not violate the 
Open Meeting Law. Furthermore, the Committee's use of "Other" 
did not violate the law. The Board's response states that the use of 
the topic "Other" is intended as a placeholder for topics not 
reasonably anticipated by the chair. Public bodies may include a 
topic in their notices for the discussion of such matters. See OML 
2015-115. While a public body may include this type of item on a 
meeting agenda, as a best practice we recommend that, when 
including such a topic, public bodies indicate explicitly that the time 
is being reserved for topics not anticipated by the chair. See OML 
2013-13.” (From AG OML Determination 2015-0127).

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



E.g., OML 2014-141  (Wayland) – AG concluded that School Committee 
violated law by failing to include in notice of meeting name of non-union 
personnel with whom it would be negotiating

E.g., OML 2013-1112(Wayland) – AG found that topics such as “New Business”, 
“Old Business” and “"Invoice Approval” were not sufficiently detailed

E.g., OML 2013-174 (Wayland) The AG determined that “Review Town 
Administrator Contract and Job Description” was not sufficiently detailed to 
inform the public about the possibility of terminating the Town Administrator.

E.g., OML 2015-8 (Ayer) – AG found that topics listing DEP file number but not 
street address were insufficiently detailed because the addresses could not 
easily have been discovered



Emergencies

There are limited times when a public 
body can meet without the requisite 
48 hours advanced notice/posting.

Poor planning does not equal an 
emergency!

Natural disasters and public safety 
issues do equal an emergency.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Updating the Meeting Notice 

“A public body may update its 
meeting notice with additional 
detail if it learns that a noticed 
topic may be confusing to the 
public.”  (From AG OML 
Determinations 2013-182; 
2013-174).

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



“Surprise” Topics

May a public body consider a topic at a meeting that 
was not listed in the meeting notice? (from AG FAQ 
on “Meeting Notices”)

Yes, if it is a topic that the chair did not reasonably anticipate 48 
hours before the meeting.  If a meeting topic is proposed after the 
meeting notice is posted, the public body is encouraged to update 
its posting to provide the public with as much notice as possible of 
what subjects will be discussed during a meeting.  Although a 
public body may consider a topic that was not listed in the meeting 
notice if unanticipated, the Attorney General strongly encourages 
public bodies to postpone discussion and action on topics that are 
controversial or may be of particular interest to the public if those 
topics were not listed in the meeting notice.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Content of Meeting Minutes

G.L. c. 30A, Section 22 

(a) A public body shall create and maintain accurate 
minutes of all meetings, including executive 
sessions, setting forth the date, time and place,  
the members present or absent, a summary of      
the discussions on each subject, a list of documents 
and other exhibits used at the meeting, the 
decisions made and the actions taken at each 
meeting, including the record of all votes. 

(b)No vote taken at an open session shall be by    
secret  ballot.  Any vote taken at an executive 
session shall  be recorded by roll call and          
entered into the minutes. 

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Content of Meeting Minutes

Per the Attorney General’s Office, “[m]inutes 
should contain enough detail and accuracy so that 
a member of the public who did not attend the 
meeting could read the minutes and have a clear 
understanding of what occurred.”  

A verbatim transcript is not required, at least 
under the Open Meeting Law.

Sufficiency of meeting notice is judged not 
only on its face, but also upon what was 
actually discussed. 

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Minute Preparation & Approval

G.L. c. 30A, §22(c)

Minutes of all open sessions shall be created and 
approved in a timely manner. The minutes of an 
open session, if they exist and whether approved 
or in draft form, shall be made available upon 
request by any person within 10 days. 

The Attorney General “recommends” that minutes 
be approved at the next following meeting.  See
AG OML Determinations 2015-43; 2013- 173; 
2013-37.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Documents Used

G.L. c. 30A, §22(d)

Documents and other exhibits, such as 
photographs, recordings or maps, used by 
the body at an open or executive session 
shall, along with the minutes, be part of the 
official record of the session. 

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Documents Used

Thus, documents “used” by the public body during a 
meeting must be listed in the meeting minutes. All 
records used by a board at an open meeting are 
presumptively considered public records. 

Per the Attorney General’s Office, a document is   
“used” by the body if, at a minimum, it is:

1. Physically present

2. Verbally identified

3. The contents are discussed by the members of 
the body during the meeting

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



G.L. 30A, §21 – statute with procedures and 
valid purposes
Before going into the executive session, the chair must state the 
purpose for the session, “stating all subjects that may be 
revealed without compromising the purpose for which the 
executive session was called.”

The vote to go into executive session must still be by roll call 
vote.

Must still state whether the body is returning to open session.



G.L. 30A, §21

Purpose 1. To discuss the reputation, character, physical 
condition or mental health, rather than professional 
competence, of an individual, or to discuss the discipline or 
dismissal of, or complaints or charges brought against, a public 
officer, employee, staff member or individual. …

Adds right of individual to create independent record of session at own 
cost

Meeting notice and vote need NOT refer to name of individual to be 
discussed



Purpose 3. To discuss strategy with respect to collective 
bargaining or litigation if an open meeting may have a 
detrimental effect on the bargaining or litigating position of the 
public body and the chair so declares …

This includes the name of a case in litigation, if doing so would not 
compromise the litigation. OML 2012-118

Purpose 6. To consider the purchase, exchange, lease or value 
of real property if the chair declares that an open meeting may 
have a detrimental effect on the negotiating position of the 
public body

* If entering executive session under exemptions 3 or 6, the 
public body cannot invite the “other side” to participate in the 
executive session. OML 2012-114.



Executive Session Minutes

Executive session minutes must be reviewed 
at reasonable intervals by the Chair. 

Such minutes must be provided upon request 
within 10 days; provided, however, that if the 
periodic review has not been done, minutes 
must be provided not later than the body’s 
next meeting or 30 days, whichever first 
occurs. No fee may be assessed for this 
review, or the time spent in redacting any 
material exempt from disclosure under the 
PRL.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Recent Attorney General Decisions

All meetings must start in open session, and meeting 
notice must signify this in some way (particularly single 
executive session meeting).

All requests for meeting minutes must be responded to 
promptly, without charge, including executive session 
meeting minutes, if the purpose for the executive 
session has been satisfied.

Single email, sent by one board member without 
response from any other member, constitutes 
deliberation because an opinion was expressed.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Recent Attorney General Decisions

Among other items cautioned by DOG:
Use of word “exemption” rather than “purpose” 
when invoking executive session provisions of G.L. 
c. 30A, §21(a)(1)

“Small talk” after the meeting = deliberation

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



PRL Implications

Meeting Minutes are Public Records; they 
are required to be maintained 
permanently.

Requests for meeting minutes are covered 
under both the OML and the PRL.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Tips for Conducting Public Meetings

OML Requirements

Other Statutory or Legal Requirements

Process – Depends upon type of meeting 
and subject (i.e., public meeting vs. public 
hearing)

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Public Hearings

Three main types of hearings:

Adjudicatory (i.e. nuisance “dog” 
hearings; disciplinary hearings); 
generally affecting personal or property 
rights  

Application/Permitting (i.e., liquor 
licensing, land use permits)

Regulatory (i.e., to adopt regulations, 
fees)

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Public Meetings

Is this how you want to be remembered for posterity?

The Chair has the authority to cause disruptive persons 
to be ejected; wield this power wisely!  Warn people 
about their behavior before ejecting them.  Taking a 
recess might be a better option.

Make sure the factual (and if appropriate legal) bases 
for your decision are made clear at the hearing, and as 
part of your vote (and decision).

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Advertise the Application

Conduct the Public Hearing

Close the Public Hearing

Make the Decision

Perfect the Decision as needed (i.e., mail to 
applicant, file with Town Clerk, etc.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



ADVERTISE THE APPLICATION 

Check the application for completeness. 

Give proper statutory notice.  

Advertise all of the relief requested in the application.

Do not advertise relief that has not been requested.

Check the tax arrearage list and follow G.L. c.40, §57 process, if 
applicable [Article XXXII of General By-laws].

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



CONDUCT THE PUBLIC HEARING

Read the legal ad aloud to introduce the public hearing (or summarize it).  
(Make sure the application and legal notice and advertisement match).

Make sure Board has a quorum.

Explain the Board’s procedures to the public.

Explain what relief the applicant seeks to the public.

Allow the applicant to present the application.

Allow Board members to ask questions.

Allow public participation – presentation and questions.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING

Before closing, ask if anyone has any additional information to 
submit. Explain nothing further will be accepted once the 
hearing is closed. 

Take a vote to close the hearing. (Majority)

Take votes to make findings. (Majority)

Take a vote to make the decision, observing the voting quantum.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



If a motion to approve an application (or make 
another decision) is made and fails to achieve 
the necessary votes for approval, then the 
motion fails and the project is deemed denied.

It is not necessary to do a housekeeping motion 
to state that there is a denial, but you may do 
so, if you wish.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Recite the reasons for the decision. Do not just recite the standards for 
relief.  

DO NOT SAY: 

The project would not be substantially more detrimental.

DO SAY:  

The project would not be substantially more detrimental because it 
would add 500 s.f. to an existing single-family dwelling that is lawfully 
nonconforming and it would not create any additional impacts on the 
neighborhood with respect to traffic or interfere with light and air and it    
would conform visually to the size of a majority of the dwellings that 
already exist in the neighborhood.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Adhere to advertising and notice requirements.

Make sure the Board has a quorum to act.

Observe voting requirements.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Note the date you are served.

Note whether there is a summons.

Note whether there is a “Short Order of Notice.”

Immediately notify the Town Administrator and 
provide a copy of all pleadings served upon you 
and the dates.



On-site inspections are not a “meeting” that 
must be posted, provided that the members do 
not deliberate during the inspection.  G.L. 
c.30A, §18.

If you do post, remember to state that the 
Board cannot invite members of the public onto 
private property.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



No deliberating via e-mail!

You may perform scheduling via e-mail.

You may distribute materials via e-mail, but all 
deliberations must be held for meeting.

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Practical Advice for Board Members

Attend meetings & be on time

Be prepared:  Read packet 
before meeting

Be familiar with sites and 
projects – know why you are 
there.

Seek staff assistance before 
meeting

Focus on facts, not opinions

Be practical

Be patient

Don’t make it personal

Be respectful

Treat everyone equally

Be probing, but not 
argumentative

Participate in discussion; 
share information

Summarize what you have 
heard

Be conscious of body 
language

Be open-minded

All Materials © Copyright KP Law, P.C. All Rights Reserved



Brian W. Riley, Esq.
KP Law, P.C.

101 Arch St., 12th Floor
Boston, MA 02110

(617) 556-0007
www.k-plaw.com

briley@k-plaw.com

519661


	Town of Pembroke Conservation Commission
	2 Pembroke Appointed Official Handbook
	TOWN OF PEMBROKE

	3 Social Media Guideline
	4 Sexual Harassment Policy of Town
	5 How to be an Effective Member 12-2017
	6 open meeting law guide 1-2018
	Overview
	Purpose of the Law
	Attorney General’s Authority
	Certification
	Open Meeting Law Website

	Meetings of Public Bodies
	What meetings are covered by the Open Meeting Law?
	What constitutes a public body?
	What constitutes a deliberation?
	What matters are within the jurisdiction of the public body?
	What are the exceptions to the definition of a meeting?

	Notice
	What are the requirements for posting notice of meetings?
	What are the requirements for filing and posting meeting notices for local public bodies?
	What are the requirements for posting notices for regional, district, county and state public bodies?
	A note about accessibility
	What information must meeting notices contain?

	Executive Session
	When can a public body meet in executive session?
	The Ten Purposes for Executive Session

	Remote Participation
	May a member of a public body participate remotely?
	How can the practice of remote participation be adopted?
	What are the permissible reasons for remote participation?
	What are the acceptable means of remote participation?
	What are the minimum requirements for remote participation?
	What procedures must be followed if remote participation is used at a meeting?

	Public Participation
	What public participation in meetings must be allowed?

	Minutes
	What records of public meetings must be kept?
	Open Session Meeting Records
	Executive Session Meeting Records

	Open Meeting Law Complaints
	What is the Attorney General’s role in enforcing the Open Meeting Law?
	What is the Open Meeting Law complaint procedure?
	Step 1.  Filing a Complaint with the Public Body
	Step 2.  The Public Body’s Response
	Step 3.  Filing a Complaint with the Attorney General’s Office

	May a public body request mediation to resolve a complaint?
	When is a violation of the law considered “intentional”?

	Will the Attorney General’s Office provide training on the Open Meeting Law?
	Contacting the Attorney General
	The Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-253F
	Section 18: [DEFINITIONS]
	Section 19. Division of Open Government; Open Meeting Law Training; Open Meeting Law Advisory Commission; Annual Report
	Section 20. Meetings of a Public Body to be Open to the Public; Notice of Meeting; Remote Participation; Recording and Transmission of Meeting; Removal of Persons for Disruption of Proceedings
	Section 21.  Executive Sessions
	Section 22.  Meeting Minutes; Records
	Section 23. Enforcement of Open Meeting Law; Complaints; Hearings; Civil Actions
	Section 24. Investigation by Attorney General of Violations of Open Meeting Law
	Section 25. Regulations; Letter Rulings; Advisory Opinions

	940 CMR 29.00:  Open Meeting Law Regulations
	Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law Materials

	7 Public Body Checklist Notice, Minutes, Executive session
	8 kp law open meeting law 10-2016



